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Front Cover: GOTAFE trainer Craig Murphy and GOTAFE graduate and Victorian Training 
Awards 2017 Apprentice of the Year, Jeremy Connell at Wangaratta Engineering.
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Report of Operations

Annual Report declaration
GOTAFE has implemented and maintained a process 
to ensure its Annual Report is prepared in accordance 
with the Financial Management Act 1994, Standing 
Directions, Instructions, Financial Reporting Directions, 
applicable Australian Accounting Standards and relevant 
legislation and instruments. I am pleased to present 
the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE (GOTAFE) Annual 
Report for the year ending 31 December 2017.

Preamble
The 2017 Annual Report has been prepared in 
accordance with all relevant legislation and subordinate 
instruments, including, but not limited to, the following: 

Education and Training Reform Act 2006 (ETRA)
The Constitution of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of 
Technical and Further Education Order 2016
Directions of the Minister for Training and Skills (or 
predecessors)
Commercial Guidelines - TAFE Institutes
Strategic Planning Guidelines - TAFE Institutes
Public Administration Act 2004
Financial Management Act 1994 
Freedom of Information Act 1982
Building Act 1993
Protected Disclosure Act 2012
Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003

The required reporting appears throughout the Annual 
Report. A disclosure index appears at the end of the 
Annual Report to facilitate identification of compliance 
with statutory disclosure requirements.

Joanne Dwyer
Chair of the Board
19 March 2018
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Introduction

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE (GOTAFE) is the 
largest tertiary education provider in northern Victoria. 
The region GOTAFE principally services covers 11 
local government areas with an estimated resident 
population of over 242,000 people. 
In 2017 GOTAFE’s annual turnover exceeded $63 million. 
Training delivery exceeded 4.3 million student contact 
hours (SCHs) to over 14,000 individual students. 

Establishment and charter 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE was established on 
1 October 1996 with the merger of Goulburn Valley 
Institute of TAFE and Wangaratta Institute of TAFE. 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is established under 
the Education and Training Reform Act 2006. Its powers 
and duties are primarily established in its Constitution, 
the Education and Training Reform Act 2006 and the 
Financial Management Act 1994. 
The principal objectives and functions of GOTAFE are to:
• provide vocational education and training and quality 

outcomes through excellent teaching, innovation and 
educational leadership; 

• provide tertiary education and consultancy services 
that meets the unique skill needs of the region and 
lead to workforce development, industry productivity 
and enterprise business success;

• build community capacity and enrich the lives of 
young people and adults through lifelong learning 
and personal development; and to

• issue vocational training qualifications to eligible 
individuals. 

As a Victorian Government agency, GOTAFE supports 
government education priorities and the economic 
development of the region and its industry workforce.
The Hon Gayle Tierney MP, Minister for Training and 
Skills is responsible for TAFE institutes and the broader 
tertiary education sector in Victoria.

Strategic Plan 
The strategic directions of GOTAFE were reviewed 
during 2017 and a new planning framework is due for 
implementation in 2018. A new vision for GOTAFE “to 
be thriving and transforming communities, with GOTAFE 
skills in every living room, workplace and wherever 
people gather” was developed from the strategic 
planning.

Values
GOTAFE’s shared Values are:
• Responsiveness
• Integrity
• Excellence
• Creativity 

• Respect
• Accountability
• Collaboration 
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Board Chair Report

As incoming GOTAFE Board Chair, I would like to 
acknowledge the Institute’s ongoing commitment 
to delivering high quality education to the 
communities in which we operate. 
In 2017 our Skills and Jobs Centres delivered 
services to over 3,000 clients, with one third of 
them enrolling into GOTAFE courses. GOTAFE’s 
Skills and Jobs Centres, and in particular the work 
we do with disengaged youth, is considered to 
be best practice and the proposed 2018 Compact 
Agreement with the State Government requires 
GOTAFE to take a state-wide lead by assisting other 
TAFE institutes to implement our systems and 
processes.
GOTAFE is proud to continue our partnership 
with Berry Street and Beyond Housing Network 
to deliver the Shepparton Education First Youth 
Foyer. The Foyer, which assists homeless youth 
transition back into education, celebrated one 
year of operation. A total of 49 students based at 
the Foyer successfully completed Certificate I in 
Developing Independence in 2017, providing them 
with essential life skills in education, employment, 
health and wellbeing, social connections, civil 
participation and housing and living skills designed 
to transition students on to independent living. 
Our staff and students continue to excel. 
During 2017, GOTAFE staff and students were 
acknowledged through various awards including: 
• Engineering graduate Jeremy Connell was 

announced as the 2017 Apprentice of the Year 
at the Victorian Training Awards ceremony 
in Melbourne in October. Jeremy went on to 
represent Victoria and GOTAFE as a Finalist at 
the Australian Training Awards.  

• Nursing Trainer Chris Freeman was a Finalist in 
the Victorian Training Awards Teacher/Trainer of 
the Year Award category. 

• Education Support Trainee Daniel Fisher, a 
student from Assumption College, Kilmore, 
was announced as a Finalist in the School-
based Apprentice or Trainee of the Year Award 
category.

• The Mansfield Armchair Cinema and Rhodes 
Hair & Spa were recognised in the Small/
Medium Employer of the Year Award category 
of the Victorian Training Awards for their 

partnerships with GOTAFE. 
• GOTAFE was recognised as a Finalist in the 

Education Institute of the Year category in the 
inaugural National Dreamtime Awards held in 
Sydney in November 2017. 

• Twenty-three GOTAFE Apprentices were 
eligible to apply for the National WorldSkills 
Competition next year after securing medals 
during the Regional Competitions hosted by our 
trades departments in 2017. 

The GOTAFE Board participated in a series of 
strategic planning workshops throughout 2017, 
resulting in a new vision for the Institute going 
forward in 2018: To be thriving and transforming 
communities, with GOTAFE skills in every living 
room, workplace and wherever people gather.

In December we welcomed Fiona Lloyd and Dean 
Walton to the Board, while I acknowledge the 
commitment and robust governance and oversight 
of our continuing Directors throughout 2017.

On behalf of the Board I also congratulate and 
thank former Board Chair Michael Tehan, who 
retired in June 2017. Michael had served on the 
Board since 1997, with the past nine years as Chair. 
We thank him for his outstanding leadership and 
commitment to the communities we serve. 

The Hon Gayle Tierney MP, Minister for Training 
and Skills, Gill Callister Department Secretary, 
David Latina Deputy Secretary, and the staff of 
Higher Education and Skills Group within the 
Department of Education and Training Victoria 
have played a significant role in supporting the 
Institute to achieve the Victorian Government 
vision for TAFE as “a provider of choice”.

Joanne Dwyer
Chair of the Board
19 March 2018
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2017 Year in Review
2017 Highlights
Funding from the Stronger TAFE Fund 
and a new TAFE Victoria brand
In March, The Hon Gayle Tierney MP, Minister for 
Training and Skills visited GOTAFEs Shepparton campus 
to announce $6.9 million of funding from the Stronger 
TAFE fund, as part of the State Government’s Skills First 
program.

The funding will ensure GOTAFE has the resources 
needed to address industry skill gaps, deliver new 
innovative training and help grow enrolments. The 
funding aims to allow GOTAFE to focus on what it does 
best, train students and remain the heart and centre of 
training in regional Victoria. 

It follows a new united TAFE Victoria brand campaign 
“TAFE will take you there”, which was launched to help 
promote the hundreds of high-quality, industry-linked 
courses on offer at TAFE. The new brand gives Victoria’s 
12 TAFEs and four dual-sector universities a strong 
collective voice as the centre of the government-funded 
training system. A new tafe.vic.gov.au website features 
every TAFE course offered by TAFEs and dual-sector 
universities in Victoria.

GOTAFE to receive $4.07 million 
through Skills First Community Service 
funding
Member for Northern Victoria Mark Gepp visited the 
Shepparton campus in December to announce GOTAFE 
is receiving $4.07 million from the State Government’s 
Skills First TAFE Community Service funding.

Community Service funding helps TAFEs support 
students finish their training and secure a job by funding 
counselling, welfare and library services, as well as 
language and literacy programs.

GOTAFE will use $977,495 to continue the good work of 
its Skills and Jobs Centres in Shepparton, Wangaratta, 
Benalla and Seymour. 

More than $431,000 will be used for the Trade 
Apprentice Learner Support program, which provides 
mentoring and support for apprentices with low 
language, literacy and numeracy skills.

This funding will provide positive outcomes not only 
for the individuals participating but for the region’s 
industries and communities.

Funding of $1.3 million to expand 
GOTAFE’s Reconnect program
The Skills First Reconnect Program is funded by the 
Victorian State Government and was established in 
response to a recent decline in the number of young, 
early school leavers enrolling in vocational education 
and training programs, and in foundation skills in 
particular.

Reconnect programs assess the learning and non-
learning needs and career goals of eligible young 
people. An agreed learning plan is developed and 
participants develop their skills and confidence through 
access to training in literacy, numeracy, digital literacy 
and work skills. Supervised workplace experience is 
also arranged to increase employability, as well as the 
provision of support to assist students transitioning to 
employment or further training. 

In 2017 GOTAFE was successful in winning a second 
contract to deliver the Reconnect Program in 
Wangaratta, Benalla, Shepparton and Seymour. Member 
for Northern Victoria, Mark Gepp announced funding 
of $1.3 million for GOTAFE to expand delivery of the 
program. GOTAFE has enrolled over 150 clients into the 
program.

Regional TAFE Alliance project 
development
GOTAFE e-learning staff member Christine Nicholas 
was seconded to the Victorian TAFE Association (VTA) 
in June to assist Director, Les Burr on the Regional 
TAFE Alliance project. The project, sponsored and 
coordinated by the VTA and supported by the Victorian 
Government, involves the seven regional TAFEs working 
collaboratively to develop shared education resources 
and delivery across regional Victoria. 

The project aims to address Skills First priorities by:

• developing a consistent curriculum that embeds 
rich learning content and is supported by a digital 
collaborative hub, which can be accessed by all 
learners and teachers across the regional network;

• underpinning the project with a new model of 
engagement with regional businesses and industries;

• leveraging learner analytics to build a model of 
learner support to engage high needs learners, 
particularly in the early stages of learning, to improve 
retention and learning outcomes; and

• focussing on priority skill development areas, which 
have been identified in regional areas, to ensure that 
courses are fully accessible to all learners, particularly 
those cohorts underrepresented in traditional 
delivery.
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Victorian Training Awards Apprentice of 
the Year Jeremy Connell
Engineering graduate Jeremy Connell, was announced as 
the 2017 Apprentice of the Year at the Victorian Training 
Awards ceremony held in Melbourne on 11 October.

The Apprentice of the Year Award is presented to a 
Victorian Apprentice who has been outstanding in all 
aspects of their trade. The award is the culmination 
of Jeremy’s pathway from a week’s work experience 
at Wangaratta Engineering through to a School-Based 
Apprenticeship and Traineeship (SBAT) program 
and completion of his Certificate III in Engineering - 
Mechanical Trade qualification with GOTAFE.

Jeremy is now working as a fully qualified fitter and 
machinist at Wangaratta Engineering.

“I love engineering because it allows me to be hands-on, 
creative and diverse every day. I love being able to start 
with nothing and produce a finished product that I can 
say: I’m proud of that’.”

When he completed Year 12, Jeremy says he had the 
opportunity to go to university.

“However, I wanted to learn real-life application, 
and so I chose to pursue an apprenticeship,” he says. 
“I’m a hands-on person and I didn’t want to lose the 
opportunity to work at Wangaratta Engineering, as I love 
where I work. There is always a diverse range of jobs, 
and a wide range of equipment”. 

GOTAFE Engineering Trainer Greg Keane said he was 
delighted to attend the VTA Award Ceremony and see 
Jeremy up on that stage receiving the Apprentice of the 
Year award.

“For our Engineering Department, Jeremy winning 
this award is affirmation we are doing great work 
here, we have great facilities, dedicated trainers 
and a commitment to our students and the broader 
engineering field.” 

Victorian Training Awards Small/
Medium Employer of the Year
Mansfield Armchair Cinema was announced as the 
Small/Medium Employer of the Year. The not-for-profit 
community-based cinema is providing local students 
with the opportunity to gain skills and experience in 
cinema through school-based apprenticeships. The 
students are trained to operate the technical side of the 
cinema, as well as training in media studies, hospitality 
and business management in collaboration with GOTAFE 
and Mansfield Secondary College.

Rhodes Hair & Spa in Hawthorn, who had apprentices in 
training with GOTAFE partner Answers 2 Hair Academy, 
were a finalist in the Small/Medium Employer of the 
Year.

Victorian Training Awards Finalists
Nursing trainer Chris Freeman was a finalist in the 
Victorian Training Awards Teacher/Trainer of the Year 
Award category. This category recognises innovation and 
excellence by a teacher/trainer and these characteristics 
and Chris’ passion for the nursing profession were 
evident in Chris’ selection as a finalist.

Daniel Fisher, a student from Assumption College, 
Kilmore, was a finalist in the Victorian Training Awards 
School-based Apprentice or Trainee of the Year Award 
category. Daniel studied Certificate III in Education 
Support through GOTAFE and undertook work 
experience at Sacred Heart Primary School in Yea.

Other GOTAFE nominations for the Victorian Training 
Awards that recognised excellence in their teaching or 
study were: 

• Mark Ward, GOTAFE Team Leader Automotive - 
Teacher/Trainer of the Year Award category; 

• Eloise McCormick, Certificate III in Hairdressing 
graduate - Apprentice of the Year Award category

• Crystal McLaren, Certificate III in Automotive 
Refinishing graduate -  Apprentice of the Year Award 
category

• Matthew Williams, Certificate III in Light Vehicle 
Mechanical Technology graduate - Apprentice of the 
Year Award category

• Stephanie Bell, Certificate III in Business graduate – 
Trainee of the Year Award category

• Rylie Kerambrun, Diploma of Community Services 
student – Vocational Student of the Year category

Education First Youth Foyer students 
graduate
Forty-nine students from the Education First Youth Foyer 
graduated in 2017 with a Certificate I in Developing 
Independence following on from the initial 10 graduates 
late in 2016.

The Certificate I Developing Independence equips 
students to develop core life management skills, such as 
goal setting, planning, and dealing with conflict, as well 
as recognising and validating their existing skills, talents 
and aspirations.

The Education First Youth Foyer initiative is a 
partnership of GOTAFE, Rural Housing Network and 
Berry Street Victoria. The Youth Foyer provides student 
accommodation for young people who are homeless 
or at risk of homelessness, and want to study. Living at 
the foyer provides them with access to education and 
training opportunities, a safe, secure and affordable 
place to live for up to two years and as well as 24 hour 
on-site support from trained staff and much more.
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Award ceremonies
Award recognition ceremonies were held early in 2017 
to celebrate outstanding students from 2016. The 
annual Trade Awards nights were held in December to 
recognise excellence in all apprentice year levels. 

Joseph Brooks, who completed UEE30811 Certificate III 
in Electrotechnology (Electrician) was named the overall 
Apprentice of the Year for the Shepparton and Seymour 
campuses. 

Matthew Shipard, who completed MEM30305 
Certificate III in Engineering – Fabrication Trade was 
named the overall Apprentice of the Year for the 
Wangaratta and Benalla campuses.

Australian Nursing & Midwifery 
Federation Outstanding Student
GOTAFE Nursing student, Saskia Gargan has won the 
Australian Nursing & Midwifery Federation (ANMF) 
Outstanding Student Award for completing her studies 
in Diploma of Nursing (HLT51612) at the Benalla 
campus. The ANMF Awards night is an annual event 
that recognises the individual academic achievements 
of nursing students across the education and training 
sector. It acknowledges nursing and midwifery 
excellence and promotes further education and 
improved patient and client outcomes. 

Wodonga training centre opens
In February GOTAFE commenced offering training in 
automotive courses from its Wodonga training centre. 
This includes certificate III courses in Light Vehicle 
Mechanical Technology, Motorcycle Mechanical 
Technology, Mobile Plant Technology, Heavy Commercial 
Vehicle Mechanical Technology, Agriculture Mechanical 
Technology and Outdoor Power Equipment Technology.

Hairdressing accreditation
In March GOTAFE’s Hairdressing department received 
one of the industry’s highest ticks of approval when 
it was awarded a Certificate of Accreditation by the 
Australian Hairdressing Council. GOTAFE joins a select 
group of accredited registered training providers (RTO’s) 
and one of just three TAFE providers in Victoria.

The Australian Hairdressing Council Director of 
Education and Training, Wendy Blair, conducted the 
Accreditation for GOTAFE and spoke highly of the 
Institute. “GOTAFE engages well with community, and 
importantly, their training meets the business needs 
of local salons. You can be confident that GOTAFE 
graduates are well trained and well prepared to meet 
the needs of industry now and into the future. It’s a 
great win for industry.”

The Accreditation process focuses heavily on 
benchmarks set by industry. Along with Educational 
Leadership, GOTAFE was assessed against six additional 
standards to achieve accreditation:

• Standard 1: Educational Leadership
• Standard 2: Recognition – offering recognition for in-

salon and product company training
• Standard 3: Communication and Industry Engagement
• Standard 4: Training and Assessment Resources
• Standard 5: Currency of Staff – Hairdressing skills and 

VET knowledge and skills
• Standard 6: Salon Design, Operation and Clients
• Standard 7: Environmental and Social Responsibility

National Dreamtime Awards
GOTAFE was as a finalist for the education Institute of 
the Year category for the inaugural National Dreamtime 
Awards celebrated in Sydney in November.

The National Dreamtime Awards is an opportunity for 
First Nation people from across the country to come 
together and recognise excellence in the categories of 
Sport, Arts, Academic and Community.

GV Health partnership benefits 
secondary students
GOTAFE’s partnership with GV Health embodies leading 
practice within the vocational education training sector 
and enables regional secondary school students to study 
Certificate III in Allied Health Assistance (HLT33015), and 
Certificate III in Health Services Assistance (HLT33115) 
whilst completing VCE. Successful completion of this 
dual qualification gives students nationally recognised 
qualifications and pathways into further study or 
employment. 

The unique aspect of this partnership lies within the 
student’s ability to learn on the job, actively working 
alongside GV Health staff as they undertake their day-to-
day duties within healthcare. The practical nature of the 
placement also exposes students to changes in industry 
practices and techniques as they occur, giving them the 
most relevant and up-to-date practical skills. 

More than 100 secondary schools across Victoria and 
interstate and more than 830 students participate 
on-campus in GOTAFE’s VET programs for schools. 
Secondary school students have the opportunity to 
choose 25 VET subjects offered on-campus or online 
through GOTAFE.

Cultural Diversity Week event
A highlight on the Cultural Diversity Week program 
in Shepparton was the unveiling of Clay and Fibre 
artwork. The artwork was produced as part of the 
Culturally Connected Communities project funded by 
the Department of Justice and Regulation. The Clay 
and Fibre artwork showcases work from students from 
different age groups and ethnic backgrounds. The aim of 
this activity was to increase social cohesion, community 
participation and community connectedness. 
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RISE continues to create opportunities 
for the Indigenous community
The Regional Indigenous Skills to Employment (RISE) is a 
unique program developed by Goulburn Ovens Institute 
of TAFE (GOTAFE) and Rumbalara Aboriginal Cooperative 
Ltd in partnership with community leaders and regional 
employers to address the joint problem of poor 
participation in training and high rates of unemployment 
for particular sectors of the Indigenous community in 
the Hume Region. 

RISE is designed to provide Indigenous students with 
training opportunities with an aim to achieve real 
employment outcomes. The program delivers a mix 
of classroom training coupled with practical work 
placements in the Health, Business, and Community 
Services sectors. The respective units of competencies 
embedded in the training promote the skills needed to 
transition from unemployment to full-time work and 
further training.

In 2017, the program was adapted to have a stronger 
focus on providing outcomes and pathways into the 
Health Care sector. RISE 2 offers Aged Care traineeships 
at the Rumbalara Elders Facility for successful 
participants. RISE continues to ensure it meets the 
needs of the Elders, the students, stakeholders and the 
community.

Online Service Standards
GOTAFE has developed a number of Online Learning 
Standards designed to inform students who are 
undertaking components of their course using online 
materials. 

The standards include the support services offered by 
trainers, administration, and digital learning, ICT, library 
and student welfare staff. They also describe the pre-
training information provided to potential students, 
training and assessment methods, and the standards for 
online trainer qualifications and skills.

All online materials must comply with WCAG2.0 
Accessibility Guidelines. Staff responsible for the 
website, intranet, policy central and Moodle learning 
management system have undertaken WCAG2.0 training 
and are implementing improvements to meet the 
guidelines.

Meeting NAO and Introduction to 
Coding
A number of schools have visited the Wangaratta 
Campus and had the privilege of meeting NAO the 
Humanoid Robot, while more than 370 primary school 
students have taken part in an Introduction to Coding 
session in 2017.

GOTAFE’s Youth Engagement Team members are key 
drivers of the robotics program and undertake campus 
tours as well as visits to schools. During the robotics 
program, primary aged school students are given an 
opportunity to explore and gain a greater understanding 
of basic coding principals and its relationship to 
everyday life in the world of Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Mathematics (STEM).

Careers Day Out
Careers Day Out, managed by GOTAFE marketing staff, 
was a huge success in April when the Shepparton show 
grounds gates opened to the public and 1,400 year 10 
students from across the region. The event attracted the 
most exhibitors and students that it has ever had and 
has attracted new funding from Greater Shepparton City 
Council for the ensuing three years.

New Student Support 
The Student Welfare Unit released a Student Support 
and Student Welfare Services video to educate GOTAFE 
learners and trainers about the support services that are 
available to them.

Staff have the ability to access the video from remote 
campuses as it is available online via Moodle. The new 
‘zoom’ technology enables the Student Welfare Unit 
staff to have online face-to-face meetings with students, 
creating accessibility options for all. Students can also 
use any device for a zoom meeting: mobile phones, 
iPads, laptops or a GOTAFE computer.

Cyber security expert visits GOTAFE
Cyber security expert Mike Burgess presented as a 
keynote speaker at GOTAFE’s first Industry Forum at 
the Shepparton campus in August. A former Telstra 
Chief Information Security Officer, he sits on the Board 
of the Australian Cyber Security Growth Network and 
was involved on the Prime Minister’s Expert Panel for 
Australian 2016 Cyber Security Strategy. 

Game Jam
 ‘Game Jam’ was held during August. Game Jam is 
designed to give past and present Certificate IV in 
Digital and Interactive Games (ICT40915) students the 
opportunity to put into practice what they have learnt by 
building a game from scratch in a short amount of time.

The idea behind the Game Jam was to get the current 
and past students together so they could share their 
ideas and skills and to learn from each other to further 
develop their game concepts. The classroom and 
students creating their games was live streamed via 
twitch.tv/gotafegamejam. This enabled people who 
could not attend the event or those wanting to learn 
more could log into the channel. It also aimed to 
generate further interest in the games course.

WorldSkills
From July to October the Regional World Skills 
Competition was held at GOTAFE’s Shepparton and 
Wangaratta Campuses across a variety of fields including 
Building, Automotive, Plumbing, Retail Baking Bread, 
Retail Baking Pastry, Hairdressing and Beauty Therapy.

Twenty-five Regional Competition medallists have been 
invited to apply to represent the Central Victoria Region 
as a part of ‘Team Victoria’ at the 2018 WorldSkills 
National Competition to be held in Sydney. Twenty-three 
out of the 25 competitors given the opportunity are 
from GOTAFE, providing a great reflection on the level of 
skills of students and the dedication of GOTAFE trainers.
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Social Enterprise projects
The concept of Social Enterprise was introduced to 
VCAL students in 2017. The project is in partnership 
with Australian Centre for Rural Entrepreneurs (ACRE) 
who take the students through the process of social 
enterprise, from ideas to reality. 

The aim is to create a business or enterprise that 
generate funds, with 51% of the profits going towards 
a social cause. The social enterprise project model is 
hands-on and allows for students to create something 
that might aid them in the future. The students learn 
business skills, including how to create business and 
marketing plans, budgeting skills, bookkeeping and 
design and creating as well. The students also build on 
their essential skills around numeracy, literacy, personal 
development and work related skills.

The project challenges students to think of the bigger 
picture and to developing flexible entrepreneurial skills 
more suited to changing technologies, economies and 
communities.

The students really invested in the projects; examples 
included the production of Indigenous Socks ‘Dot 2 Dot’ 
and Beanies ‘Knitt Witts’.

Regional Health Student Conference
“Let’s Think Outside The Square,” was the theme behind 
GOTAFE’s inaugural Regional Health Student Conference 
held with 170 nursing students from both GOTAFE and 
La Trobe University. 

Presented by GOTAFE’S Health department, the 
conference was designed to inspire students to think 
about the variety of professional pathways Nursing can 
take and explore all of their options as they pursue a 
career that they are passionate about.

One of Australia’s acclaimed inspirational speakers, 
Emma Gee offered her thoughts and solutions on 
patient centred care and resilience through her keynote 
presentation. As an occupational therapist and a stroke 
survivor, Emma provide a rare insight into life as both a 
patient and therapist. 

Pop up shops featured at the event, providing the 
opportunity for local employers, industry support 
networks and community organisations to engage with 
students.

GOTAFE hosts Indian dairy study 
delegation
GOTAFE secured an internationally competitive contract 
with the Indian government’s dairy body, the National 
Dairy Development Board (NDDB), to conduct study 
tours to Victoria. This was specifically to provide 
senior representatives of the Indian dairy industry 
with opportunities to examine practices, governance 
and trends within a mature dairy industry of Australia. 
According to Austrade, this contract is the first contract 
Australia has secured with the NDDB since the 1990’s, 
which is significant as the Indian dairy industry is the 
largest in the world.

The first study tour hosted 25 delegates drawn from 
the dairy industry and represented veterinarians, dairy 
cooperatives, dairy manufacturers and NDDB extension 
officers from across India. Each delegate has a role in 
the newly released Indian National Dairy Plan.

The Study Tour included visits to AgBio and DataGene 
at La Trobe University; Burra Foods at Korumburra; 
Ellinbank Research Centre at Warragul, GOTAFE 
Werribee Pilot Factory and the GOTAFE campus at 
Warragul. Delegates visited dairy farms selected for 
their specialty area of excellence, with guest speakers 
providing presentations and demonstrations on site. The 
study tour concluded with a celebratory Indian dinner 
and certificate presentations by CEO, Paul Culpan. 

A second study tour will be conducted in February and 
will focus on the North East Victorian dairy industry, 
based near Shepparton. The NDDB have indicated their 
interest in an ongoing relationship with GOTAFE.

e-Apps success 
During 2017 work commenced to move all enrolments 
from paper based to electronic format. Development 
work on an online e-Apps course application 
system culminated in the initial online processing of 
applications from 60 people for SPC Ardmona’s seasonal 
workforce. In conjunction with SPC Ardmona and 
employment agency MADEC, GOTAFE enrolled potential 
workers into the Certificate I in Food Processing course 
and delivers this as part of the induction process for SPC 
Ardmona seasonal workers.

The principal aim of e-Apps is to reduce workload on 
enrolment staff while improving data quality through 
design parameters. The SPC Ardmona pilot was a great 
demonstration of how the new e-Application system can 
be used with a specific industry group and how it can 
make the application and enrolment processes better 
for customers and GOTAFE.

There will be a continued rollout of the electronic 
process for all courses through 2018. 

Training and Assessment Strategy tool 
replacement
GOTAFE undertook a significant project to replace its 
existing Training and Assessment Strategy (TAS) tool, the 
primary quality document for each course. The previous 
tool was built on legacy technology and was causing 
significant data issues and delays in the creation and 
maintenance of this important document. 

The outcome of this project has seen a markedly 
improved template for the course development lifecycle, 
with higher quality and compliance standards. 
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Skills and Jobs Centres
Based out of Wangaratta and Shepparton (with pop-
up services provided at both the Seymour and Benalla 
campuses), the Skills and Jobs Centres provide expert 
advice on training and employment opportunities, 
including:
• careers advice 
• help with job searching 
• assistance preparing resumes 
• apprenticeship and traineeship advice
• assistance using the Victorian Skills Gateway
• referral to welfare support and financial advice
• assistance in using existing skills to align to a new job 

or to undertake new training (Recognition of Prior 
Learning)

• information on employment trends and areas with a 
shortage in skills and employment opportunities

• assistance with career and training plans, identifying 
training qualifications that could be undertaken to 
make a successful career transition.

The Centres also engage with a broad range of local 
industries, ensuring that the centres are tailored to 
meet the needs of local communities and industries. In 
2017 GOTAFE’s Skills and Jobs Centres provided services 
to over 3,000 customers with almost 1,000 of those 
going on to enrol in GOTAFE courses.

Back to Work Youth
GOTAFE’s Back to Work Youth team have devised a 
distinctive model for career and tertiary study planning 
that empowers young people. Schools refer students 
to team members and during initial one-to-one 
conversations students work with their mentor to agree 
on their focus for the next 6-12 months, identifying a 
career preference and actions they can take to achieve 
it. Initial conversations assist students to identify who 
is there to support them: who in their network they 
can approach for career information and advice, work 
placements, or traineeship or apprenticeship positions.

GOTAFE first concentrated on disengaged young 
people. Schools soon recognised GOTAFE’s expertise 
could assist others. GOTAFE now helps many students 
shape preferred career and study plans. In addition to 
a preferred plan, GOTAFE’s team assists each student 
prepare a contingency plan. If VCE or VCAL doesn’t 
pan out as envisaged, students have a fall back, an 
alternative pathway to their preferred career.

GOTAFE first offered its career and tertiary study 
advisory services in 2016, when 129 students 
participated. This has more than doubled in 2017. 
GOTAFE’s adaptable, place-based service capability is 
stimulating trust and engagement among the region’s 
young people.

Back to Work Dairy
The Back to Work Dairy Project concluded in 2017, 
meeting its aims of creating training products for 
new skills required for future dairy, including new 
technologies; boosting pathways into employment and 
career/education progression; and developing digital 
education models.

A number of new accredited and non-accredited 
qualifications and short courses were developed and 
delivered, such as Drones for Agriculture, Milking 
Machine Testing Course for technicians, and the 
Certificate IV in New Small Business focusing on farm-
gate entrepreneurism in response to the dairy financial 
crisis.

Contemporary digital instructional design together 
with passionate training has resulted in a highly 
interactive digital education model for the Certificate 
II in Agriculture course for VET in Schools students. 
This combines structured online learning in Moodle 
based upon a ‘virtual farm’ narrative incorporated 
into the learnings and assessment tasks, online group 
work through discussion forums and Zoom webinars, 
timetabled Polycom videoconferencing classes to 
schools across Victoria, mobile device video recorded 
assessment evidence, utilisation of the students’ 
OneDrive storage, as well as practical skills training days 
and applied learning on farms during work-placements. 
This blended online model allows small numbers of 
students from multiple geographically dispersed schools 
to study agriculture and dairy as a larger group, which is 
an opportunity their schools could not previously offer.

The project has allowed GOTAFE to develop capability 
in its Digital Learning, Resource Development, Food 
Processing, Business, and Primary Industries sections, 
boosting the skills and services provided to staff, 
students and industry.

Dairy Australia changes
Dairy Australia announced earlier in the year its 
vocational education brand delivered in partnership 
with GOTAFE, the National Centre for Dairy Education, 
would transition to become DairyLearn in 2018. 

DairyLearn is proposed to include more registered 
training organisations aligned with Dairy Australia and 
provide a platform for other types of learning such as 
extension activities, discussion groups, focus farms 
and women in dairy networks. Dairy Australia, through 
DairyLearn, is also targeting a move into different areas 
of education such as high schools and universities. The 
Dairy Australia changes effectively brings to an end over 
a decade of the successful GOTAFE brand, NDEA training 
delivery.

A review of the implications of the Dairy Australia 
decision culminated in the announcement by GOTAFE 
of the closure of NCDE campuses in Gippsland and 
Western District. This decision will allow local TAFEs and 
training providers in Gippsland and south west Victoria 
an opportunity to service and support the dairy industry 
in those regions.
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2017 Objectives, Key Performance Indicators 
and Achievements

Summary of key financial results
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE five year financial summary

A summary of the financial results and financial position of the Institute with comparative results for the previous four 
years, appears in the following table:-

Five year financial summary
Financial Indicator

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Operating Revenue1

(Income from transactions, including capital 
contributions)

63,135 58,744 57,433 61,195 116,675

Operating Surplus/(Deficit)
(Net result from transactions, including capital 
contributions)

2,319 2,132 (1,047) (10,930) 12,961

Liquidity Ratio2

(Current Assets/ Current Liabilities adjusted to exclude 
long-term benefits)

5.20:1 7.50:1 6.17:1 5.81:1 3.95:1

EBITDA (Earnings before interest expense, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation)
(excludes capital contributions)

6,837 6,734 2,629 (6,804) 17,578

Total assets³  142,917  134,957  124,993  126,310  153,283 
Total liabilities4  14,213  11,230  10,827  10,440  18,304 

Note:
1. The increase in the Operating Revenue from 2016 to 2017 relates to increases in contestable funding, fee for service 

and other funding received from the Victorian Government.

2. The decrease in the Liquidity Ratio from 2016 to 2017 relates to increased payables and employee provisions.

3. The increase in Total Assets from 2016 to 2017 relates to increased cash reserves and receivables and the impact of 
the Valuer General, Victoria’s revaluation of land and buildings.

4. The increase in Total liabilities from 2016 to 2017 relates to increased payables mainly relating to the provision 
required for the refund of fees to the Department of Education and Training.

Summary of key non-financial results
A summary of key training activity results for 2017 appears in the following table:

Classification 2017 result
Students (head count) 14,181
Student Admissions (course enrolments) 16,987
Student Contact Hours (delivered) 4,323,982
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Future Directions

International education
Preparation is advanced to enter the international 
training market to build upon regional and niche 
strengths and expand revenue streams. Operational 
practices have been planned to meet the Education 
Services for Overseas Students (ESOS) standards 
and National Code requirements to deliver onshore 
education and training to international students. In late 
2017 ASQA notified GOTAFE its application for CRICOS 
registration to deliver programs in nursing, food science 
and technology, and spoken and written English had 
been approved.

An international offshore delivery strategy aligned 
with the Department of Education and Training’s 
International Growth Strategy project is also being 
developed.



 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 

Opinion I have audited the accompanying statement of performance of Goulburn 
Ovens Institute of TAFE (the institute) which comprises the:  

 statement of performance  
 management certification. 

In my opinion, the statement of performance of Goulburn Ovens Institute of 
TAFE in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017 presents fairly, in all 
material respects. 

Basis for Opinion I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which 
incorporates the Australian Standards on Assurance Engagements. My 
responsibilities under the Act are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the statement of performance section of my 
report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. I and my staff 
are independent of the institute in accordance with the ethical requirements 
of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of 
the statement of performance in Australia and have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Board's responsibilities 
for the statement of 
performance  

The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
statement of performance and for such internal control as the Board 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the 
statement of performance that is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the 
audit of the statement 
of performance 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the statement of performance based on the audit. My objectives for the 
audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the statement of 
performance as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the decisions of users taken on the basis of this statement of 
performance. 



2 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of statement of 
performance, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the institute’s internal control 

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
statement of performance, including the disclosures, and whether 
statement of performance represents the underlying events and results 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 
 
 

 

 
MELBOURNE 
21 March 2018 

Charlotte Jeffries 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Statement of Performance
Statement of Performance for the year ended 31 December 2017

In our opinion, the accompanying Statement of Performance of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of Technical and Further 
Education for the year ended 31 December 2017, is presented fairly. 

The Statement outlines the performance indicators as determined by the responsible Minister, pre-determined targets 
and the actual results for the year against these indicators, and an explanation of any significant variance between the 
actual results and performance targets. 

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render any particulars included in the 
Statement to be misleading or inaccurate.

Chief Finance & Accounting Officer
Robert Faulkner
Wangaratta
19 March 2018

Chair of the Board
Joanne Dwyer
Wangaratta
19 March 2018

Acting Chief Executive Officer
Jennifer Oliver
Wangaratta
19 March 2018
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Key Performance Indicators
Statement of Performance for the year ended 31 December 2017

Key Performance Indicator Definition Metric
2017  

Target
2017

Actual Explanation of variances
2016 

Actual

Training Revenue diversity Breakdown of training revenue split by Government 
funded and Fee for Service. Training revenue split by: Percentage

• Victorian Training Guarantee (VTG) 56.70% 57.30% VTG - Within target: overall training revenue increased during the year compared 
with Fee for Service revenue which increased at a lower rate. 58.10%

• Fee for Service (FFS) 43.30% 42.70% FFS - Within target: overall training revenue increased during the year compared with 
Fee for Service revenue which increased at a lower rate. 41.90%

Employment costs as a 
proportion of training 
revenue

Employment and Third Party training delivery costs as a 
proportion of training revenue (VTG and FFS).
Employment costs + Third Party training delivery costs / 
Training Revenue

Percentage 106.40% 110.50%
The 2017 actual is higher than the 2017 target, with the main issue associated with 
$1.7 million refund to the Department of Education & Training associated with non-
compliance issues.

108.90%

Training revenue per 
teaching FTE

Training Revenue (excl. revenue delivered by 3rd 
parties) / Teaching FTEs Dollars 140,416 111,196

The variance to target is due to training revenue being lower than target (which 
includes the impact of $1.7 million refund of fees to the Department of Education & 
Training due to non-compliance issues), which is offset by higher teacher FTE.

127,815

Operating margin 
percentage

Operating margin %

EBIT (excl. Capital Contributions) / Total Revenue (excl. 
Capital Contributions)

Percentage -22.50% 3.20%
Compared to 2016 the negative variance is due to higher remuneration and other 
expenses.  Compared to 2017 target received additional funding support from the 
Victorian Government.

3.40%

Overall Student 
Satisfaction

Of the student surveys returned, the proportion of all 
students satisfied with the overall quality of training.
Source: GOTAFE administered Quality Indicator survey

Percentage > 90.00% 90.52%
The 2017 result exceeded target and continued a high level of satisfaction by 
students of the overall quality of training. 92.20%

Overall Employer 
Satisfaction

Of the employer surveys returned, the proportion of all 
employers who are, overall, satisfied with the training. 
Source: GOTAFE administered Quality Indicator survey.

Percentage > 90.00% 96.00% The 2017 result exceeded target and continued a high level of satisfaction by 
employers of apprentices and trainees of the overall quality of training. 92.12%

Working Capital Ratio Current Assets / Current Liabilities (adjusted to exclude 
long-term benefits in current liabilities measured at 
present value)

Ratio > 0.8 : 1 5.20: 1 The decrease in the Liquidity Ratio from 2016 to 2017 is primarily due to increased 
payables and employee provisions. 7.50: 1

 
Fee for Service Revenue

 
Fee for Service Revenue/Total Revenue (excl. Capital)  Percentage > 10% 24.98%

Whilst overall fee for service training revenue increased during the year, total 
revenue increased for the year in a greater proportion generating a small increase 
compared to 2016.

24.96%

Pathways to University 
qualifications

Number of courses that have approved Higher 
Education articulation agreements No. of courses > 10 4

The number of courses with approved higher education pathways to university 
remained at four. Suitable Diploma programs have been identified and requests 
made to four universities for articulation for 21 courses, but additional courses have 
yet to be achieved.

Note: numbers previously reported in the 2016 Annual Report are courses with broad 
pathways to higher education programs, but are not formal articulation agreements 
with advanced standing for GOTAFE students into a higher education program

4
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Key Performance Indicator Definition Metric
2017  

Target
2017

Actual Explanation of variances
2016 

Actual

Training Revenue diversity Breakdown of training revenue split by Government 
funded and Fee for Service. Training revenue split by: Percentage

• Victorian Training Guarantee (VTG) 56.70% 57.30% VTG - Within target: overall training revenue increased during the year compared 
with Fee for Service revenue which increased at a lower rate. 58.10%

• Fee for Service (FFS) 43.30% 42.70% FFS - Within target: overall training revenue increased during the year compared with 
Fee for Service revenue which increased at a lower rate. 41.90%

Employment costs as a 
proportion of training 
revenue

Employment and Third Party training delivery costs as a 
proportion of training revenue (VTG and FFS).
Employment costs + Third Party training delivery costs / 
Training Revenue

Percentage 106.40% 110.50%
The 2017 actual is higher than the 2017 target, with the main issue associated with 
$1.7 million refund to the Department of Education & Training associated with non-
compliance issues.

108.90%

Training revenue per 
teaching FTE

Training Revenue (excl. revenue delivered by 3rd 
parties) / Teaching FTEs Dollars 140,416 111,196

The variance to target is due to training revenue being lower than target (which 
includes the impact of $1.7 million refund of fees to the Department of Education & 
Training due to non-compliance issues), which is offset by higher teacher FTE.

127,815

Operating margin 
percentage

Operating margin %

EBIT (excl. Capital Contributions) / Total Revenue (excl. 
Capital Contributions)

Percentage -22.50% 3.20%
Compared to 2016 the negative variance is due to higher remuneration and other 
expenses.  Compared to 2017 target received additional funding support from the 
Victorian Government.

3.40%

Overall Student 
Satisfaction

Of the student surveys returned, the proportion of all 
students satisfied with the overall quality of training.
Source: GOTAFE administered Quality Indicator survey

Percentage > 90.00% 90.52%
The 2017 result exceeded target and continued a high level of satisfaction by 
students of the overall quality of training. 92.20%

Overall Employer 
Satisfaction

Of the employer surveys returned, the proportion of all 
employers who are, overall, satisfied with the training. 
Source: GOTAFE administered Quality Indicator survey.

Percentage > 90.00% 96.00% The 2017 result exceeded target and continued a high level of satisfaction by 
employers of apprentices and trainees of the overall quality of training. 92.12%

Working Capital Ratio Current Assets / Current Liabilities (adjusted to exclude 
long-term benefits in current liabilities measured at 
present value)

Ratio > 0.8 : 1 5.20: 1 The decrease in the Liquidity Ratio from 2016 to 2017 is primarily due to increased 
payables and employee provisions. 7.50: 1

 
Fee for Service Revenue

 
Fee for Service Revenue/Total Revenue (excl. Capital)  Percentage > 10% 24.98%

Whilst overall fee for service training revenue increased during the year, total 
revenue increased for the year in a greater proportion generating a small increase 
compared to 2016.

24.96%

Pathways to University 
qualifications

Number of courses that have approved Higher 
Education articulation agreements No. of courses > 10 4

The number of courses with approved higher education pathways to university 
remained at four. Suitable Diploma programs have been identified and requests 
made to four universities for articulation for 21 courses, but additional courses have 
yet to be achieved.

Note: numbers previously reported in the 2016 Annual Report are courses with broad 
pathways to higher education programs, but are not formal articulation agreements 
with advanced standing for GOTAFE students into a higher education program

4
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Governance and Organisational Structure
GOTAFE Board 

The Board’s membership comprises six Ministerial directors, three co-opted directors, the Chief Executive Officer and a 
staff elected director.
The Board representation in the 2017 calendar year appears in the following table.

Member Director category Term Board Committees 2017

Michael Tehan
(Board Chair 1 January – 30 June 2017)

Ministerial 01/07/16 - 30/06/17 Executive (Chair to 30/06/17), 
Audit, Remuneration & Nomination

Joanne Dwyer 
(Board Chair 1 July – 31 December 2017)

Ministerial 01/07/16 - 30/06/19 Executive (Chair from 1/07/17) 
Audit (Chair to 30/06/17),
Remuneration & Nomination

Dr Christine Cunningham Ministerial 01/07/16 - 30/06/18 Executive, Safety and Wellbeing (Chair)

Christine Riches Ministerial 01/07/16 - 30/06/19 Audit

Angela Verde Ministerial 01/07/16 - 30/06/19 Safety and Wellbeing

Mark O’Sullivan Co-opted Director 22/08/16 - 30/06/19 Audit (Chair from 1/07/17), 
Remuneration & Nomination

Rod Schubert Co-opted Director 24/10/16 - 30/06/18 Remuneration & Nomination (Chair), 
Safety and Wellbeing

Fiona Lloyd Ministerial 15/12/17 - 30/06/20 -

Dean Walton Ministerial 15/12/17 - 30/06/20 -

Vacant Co-opted Director

Paul Culpan CEO 01/07/16 - 02/03/18 Audit, Safety and Wellbeing

Jenny Jackson Staff Elected Director 01/07/16 - 30/06/18 Safety and Wellbeing

Michael Tehan
Michael Tehan’s 20 years Board membership with GOTAFE culminated at the end of June when 
he retired on completion of his term. Michael’s leadership and wise counsel provided strong and 
consistent governance for GOTAFE over a significant period of time and change in the training 
market. His contribution to the Board and more broadly to vocational education and training in the 
region is immeasurable. 

JOANNE DWYER

ROD SCHUBERT

CHRISTINE 
CUNNINGHAM MARK O’SULLIVANCHRISTINE RICHES

FIONA LLOYD DEAN WALTON JENNY JACKSON PAUL CULPAN

ANGELA VERDE
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Board members’ expertise
GOTAFE’s Board directors come from a range of 
backgrounds and have a variety of skills. The Board 
aims to have members from diverse backgrounds to 
provide GOTAFE with the skills necessary for quality 
leadership and good governance.

Joanne Dwyer
A Director since 2013, Joanne is a Certified Practising 
Accountant and has a Bachelor of Commerce degree. 
Joanne is an independent consultant with extensive 
experience across each of the private, public and not-
for-profit sectors. A current member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors and CPA Australia, 
Joanne has held a number of directorships in regional 
Victoria, and her expertise lies in business project 
management and strategic planning.

Joanne ascended to the Board Chair position in July 
2017.

Dr Christine Cunningham
Christine is a consultant statistician and researcher with 
a doctorate from the University of Melbourne and a 
Master’s degree in science. Christine is an experienced 
and credentialed researcher and board director with 
qualifications in social research, psychology, nursing, 
journalism, applied statistics, governance and public 
health. For over thirty years she has worked in various 
clinical, program, planning, policy, academic and 
governance roles. 

Christine is on the Board of the Royal Children’s 
Hospital and serves on an advisory panel for Swinburne 
University of Technology. She previously served on the 
Board of Northeast Health Wangaratta from 2006 – 
2014 and was chair from 2009 – 2014. 

Christine Riches
MBA qualified and with Diplomas of Training and 
Education, Christine has held senior roles across various 
disciplines and organisations. Her experience in North-
East Victoria includes workforce planning with small 
and medium sized enterprises and leading a community 
based Registered Training Organisation. An experienced 
Board member, Christine specialises in strategic 
planning, organisational development and business 
review, and is also a skilled trainer and course developer 
in leadership and business.

Angela Verde
Angela has over 20 years of experience working regionally 
in senior and Regional Director level roles across multiple 
government departments and the Not for Profit sector. 
She has played an integral role in facilitating a broad 
range of regional economic, planning and community 
development outcomes within the Hume region and 
has been instrumental in leading the development of 
integrated regional strategic plans. 

Currently coordinating a local government change 
management project, Angela has a strong record of 
achievement in facilitating change, leading teams, 
delivering regional programs and building sustainable 
partnerships. She also brings to GOTAFE an enduring 
passion and commitment to improving outcomes for 
people in regional communities.

Angela holds a Bachelor of Applied Science and Diploma 
in Business Management and is also a member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Mark O’Sullivan
Mark has had over 25 years’ executive level leadership 
experience, including former Chief Executive Officer of 
the Royal Agricultural Society of Victoria Ltd (RASV), a 
position he held for 11 years. Prior to this, Mark spent 24 
years in various roles within the Victorian Thoroughbred 
Racing Industry, including 12 years as CEO of Country 
Racing Victoria Ltd (CRV).

Mark is currently chair of the Board of Spring Valley 
Golf Club, and a member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. Mark holds a Bachelor of Business 
and Graduate Diploma in Entrepreneurial Studies and 
recently completed an Advanced Management Program 
at INSEAD (Singapore).

Rod Schubert
Tertiary qualified with over 30 years in human resources 
and employee relations, Rod has significant experience 
in human resources leadership roles across the food 
manufacturing and agricultural sectors in Australia. These 
include renowned companies Ardmona and SPC, KR 
Castlemaine and Campbell’s Soup.

Rod is a former chair of the Goulburn Valley Human 
Resources and Management Network, former chair of 
the Apprenticeship Factory and previous board member 
of GV Health. In addition to his work as a HR leader, Rod 
continues to be involved in community endeavours, 
which reflects his understanding of the importance of 
community.
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Fiona Lloyd
Fiona is the Communications Manager at Goulburn 
Broken Catchment Management Authority and holds 
a Bachelor of Arts (Teaching) and Graduate Diploma’s 
in Journalism and Heritage Studies obtained in Perth, 
Western Australia. 

Based in Bunbartha, Fiona has extensive experience 
in marketing and journalism in the Goulburn Murray 
region. Her current role sees her develop, implement 
and monitor communication strategies, work 
collaboratively with government agencies, community 
and landholder groups and participate in the senior 
management of the Catchment Management Authority.  

Dean Walton
As the Executive Manager of Positive Ageing & Disability 
Services at Rumbalara Aboriginal Co-Operative, Dean 
manages a 30 bed Elders facility, homecare and mental 
health disability programs across four regions in Victoria 
and New South Wales. 

Dean is the Coach for Shepparton United under 18’s 
Youth Girls Football team and Secretary of the Old 
Students Cricket Club in Shepparton. 

Dean is currently studying the Advanced Diploma of 
Leadership and Management and holds numerous 
diplomas and certificates in Community Services, 
Management and Aged Care. Prior to his management 
roles, Dean was an Enrolled Nurse for over a decade.

Paul Culpan
Paul was appointed as CEO of Goulburn Ovens Institute 
of TAFE (GOTAFE) in December 2008. He has a Bachelor 
of Commerce (Marketing) from the University of 
Auckland, Masters in Education (Educational Leadership 
and Management) from RMIT University and a 
Certificate IV in Workplace Assessment and Training 
from Holmesglen Institute.

Originally from New Zealand, Paul transferred to 
Australia in 1998 to manage the marketing of the 
Panadol brand in Australia. Prior to joining GOTAFE, Paul 
worked for eighteen years in marketing and business 
roles within multinational companies in Australia and 
New Zealand as well as for his own business in the 
United Kingdom.

Jenny Jackson
Employed in the TAFE sector for the past 12 years, 
Jenny is Manager of Education Capability at GOTAFE. 
Tertiary qualified, Jenny has an extensive understanding 
of professional teaching practices and of regulation in 
the Vocational Education and Training environment. 

An effective communicator and facilitator, Jenny 
is inclusive and values the opinions of others. Her 
strength is her ability to achieve balanced outcomes. 
Her passion is to help others succeed through 
education.

Jenny is currently Deputy Chair of the Central Ranges 
Local Learning Employment Network, which aims to 
help young people at risk continue their education and 
support them to transition to their chosen career.

Chief Executive Officer
Paul Culpan*

Board of Directors
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Executive Manager
Education Operations

Louise Pearce

General Manager
Margie Fixter

Organisational Structure

Group Manager
Education Support

Robyn Farley

Group Manager
Skills & Employment

Jodee Price

Partnership 
Engagement

x 4 roles

Executive Manager 
Student Experience

Sandy Parker

Executive Manager 
Strategy & Commercial 

Development
Vacant

Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) Board Secretary 

Craig Faulkner

Executive Manager 
Human Resources

Vacant

Chief Information 
Officer (CIO)

Ian Bell

• Marketing & Creative Services
Larissa Falla

• Business & Information Technology/TAE
Jo Craig

• Hair, Baking, Hospitality & Meat
Ross Graham

• Health & Community Services/ Sport Rec
Helen Ryan

• Building, Plumbing & Electrotechnology
Brendan Rogash

• Horticulture, Animal Sciences & Equine
Robyn Saunders

• Automotive, Engineering, Art & Design
Brett Ambrosio

• Food & Dairy Processing 
Michael Robinson

• Multicultural Education
Balvinder Kaur

• Dairy/Agriculture
Luke Prime

• Vocational Pathways, Koorie & Learning 
Skills
Natasha McCormick

• Education Assurance
Cheryl Moylan

• Educational Capability
Jenny Jackson

• Education Products/ Digital 
Learning/Domestic Partners
Celia Turnbull

• International & Higher Education
Kath White

• Library Services
Anne Ritter

• Student Welfare
Michael Loscavo

• Skills & Jobs
Simone Masters

• VET in Schools
Jon Lee

• World Skills
Callum Ross

• Youth
Kel Vincent

• Registrar
Jennie Freer

• Client Service Centre
Karryn Goode

• Divisional Administration
Vacant

• Quality & Sustainability
Peter Watson

• Financial Services
Rita Ruyters

• Assets
Neil Conrick

• Business Intelligence
Albert Amadei

• ICT
Kumar Santhakumar

• Project Support Office
Andrew Lovett

• Safety & Wellbeing
Joanna Foulkes

* Paul Culpan resigned as CEO on 2 March 2018 and Jennifer Oliver was appointed interim CEO on 5 March 2018
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Workforce Information
Workforce Data

Workforce data by gender, age and classification
Ongoing Fixed Term Casual

2017 December Number
(Headcount) FTE Number

(Headcount) FTE Number 
(Headcount) FTE

Gender
Male 93 91 42 41 93 36
Female 138 122 116 103 149 55
Age
Under 25 5 5 17 2
25-34 3 3 29 26 37 12
35-44 41 37 36 32 48 20
45-54 79 75 56 52 75 27
55-64 90 84 28 26 41 23
Over 64 18 14 4 3 24 7
Classification
PACCT 86 78 68 63 72 14
Teaching 144 134 84 75 170 77
Executive 6 6
Other 1 1

Total 231 213 158 144 242 91

Ongoing Fixed Term Casual

2016 December Number 
(Headcount) FTE Number 

(Headcount) FTE Number 
(Headcount) FTE

Gender
Male 100 97 39 38 86 27
Female 152 134 104 93 130 37
Age
Under 25 5 5 6 1
25-34 9 8 24 23 26 8
35-44 45 39 35 31 42 14
45-54 88 84 50 46 73 21
55-64 93 87 28 25 48 14
Over 64 17 13 1 1 21 6

Classification

PACCT 87 78 59 54 54 11
Teaching 159 147 79 72 161 52
Executive 4 4 5 5
Other 2 2 1 1

Total 252 231 143 131 216 64
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Workforce data full time equivalent (FTE)
Full Time Part Time Casual

2017 December Ongoing Fixed 
Term Ongoing Fixed 

Term Teacher Other

PACCT Staff 59 44 19 19 14

Executive 6
Other 1
Teacher 111 58 23 17 77

Full Time Part Time Casual

2016 December Ongoing Fixed 
Term Ongoing Fixed 

Term Teacher Other

PACCT Staff 60 39 18 15 11

Executive 4 4 1
Other 2 1
Teacher 120 55 27 17 52

Note: Other category is staff on WorkCover; 2016 data restated to include staff omitted from 2016 Annual Report.

All employees have been properly classified in the workforce data collections.

Application of employment and conduct principles
GOTAFE is committed to recruiting the best available people into the organisation and remunerating them 
appropriately.

Recruitment practices are in accordance with the government guidelines to ensure that GOTAFE meets the 
requirements of the Public Sector Management and Employment Act 1998. Recruitment processes are detailed in the 
Recruitment Policy and associated procedures.

GOTAFE observes an Employee Code of Conduct Policy that was updated in 2017 and detailing the minimum 
obligations and standards of personal behaviour and conduct expected of staff employed. The purpose of the code is 
to promote adherence to the public sector values prescribed in the Public Administration Act 2004. The code outlines 
standards of behaviour rather than detailed policies and procedures.

All new staff to the Institute are provided with a copy of the Code of Conduct for Victorian Public Sector Employees 
handbook at the point of employment.
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GOTAFE is committed to providing a safe work 
environment for all employees, students, contractors 
and visitors and takes a proactive approach to best 
practice occupational health and safety by establishing 
clear policies, goals and strategies, monitoring systems, 
developing preventative programs and articulating 
employee responsibilities. It also recognises that those 
who manage or control events that create health 
and safety risks are responsible for elimination of, or 
controlling those risks.
During 2017 there has been a continued focus on 
embedding GOTAFE’s safety management system and 
also the wellbeing of employees. A particular emphasis 
has been to supporting employees return to work after 
sustaining a non-work related injury or illness.

The top five priorities targeted in the 2017 OH&S Plan 
were:
• employee wellbeing, through supporting their return 

to work after a non-work related injury or illness
• campus security
• incident reporting, investigation and corrective 

actions arising from incidents
• training of all staff in minimum OHS requirements
• development and implementation of the OH&S 

Management System using Leading the Way and 
AS4801 to enhance GOTAFE’s safety culture and 
practices.

OH&S performance 
OH&S performance has been measured, and performance against the indicators is shown below.

Performance Indicators 2017 2016 2015 2014

Number of reported hazards and incidents 
per 100 FTE staff members 36.43 45 NA NA

Lost-time standard claims per 100 FTE staff 
members 0.45 0.86 Not measured – LTIFR used – see 

below.

Lost-time injury frequency ratio (Standard 
claims per million hours worked) 2.53 4.54 6.63 1.8

Average cost per claim $28,241 $1,703 $65,527 $44,586

Outstanding claim costs (estimate) $127,902 $2,290 $61,811 $46,162

Fatalities 0 0 0 0

Note - Average cost per claim has increased for claims raised in 2017 due to the impact of one claim.

Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S)
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Staff Development and Recognition
VET Practitioner Capability 
The VET Practitioner Capability Framework was launched 
at the GOTAFE Educators Conference in June. Trainers 
and assessors completed a self-assessment tool which 
presented the capabilities by level. The capabilities 
explain what good performance looks like for a trainer and 
assessor. 
Trainers and assessors with different levels of experience 
and expertise can use the framework to confirm what is 
expected of them in their current role, and the capabilities 
that are required of them if they want to progress to the 
next level in their career. It is also a tool that recognises 
their strengths and expertise.
The data from the self-assessments will inform professional 
development activities for the organisation and support 
strategies to enhance individual capability.

Educators Conference
The GOTAFE Educators Conference commenced with guest 
speaker, Marc Nichol, the VTA 2016 Trainer of the Year. 
Everyone in the BPACC auditorium was able to relate to 
Marc’s story of the value of educators today and their 
impact with students and local communities.
Other speakers included CEO, Paul Culpan who presented 
on his Innovation Ecosystem Study Tour and challenged 
staff to implement innovation within their practices; Craig 
Murphy who spoke about GOTAFE’s new Fab Lab, digital 
disruption and where the world is moving to in a rapid 
pace; Jo Fasano, who presented on gamification in the class 
room; and Luke Bromley and David Czech who expressed 
their passion of teaching the VCAL students during their 
presentation. 

Professional development workshop with 
La Trobe University
GOTAFE Health and Community Services trainers involved 
in delivering dual enrolment programs with La Trobe 
University participated in a Professional Development 
Workshop with the university. The workshop facilitated 
exploration of similarities between TAFE and university 
teaching and assisted GOTAFE trainers to better prepare 
students for their transition to higher education. These 
GOTAFE trainers will be recognised as Affiliate Lecturers of 
La Trobe University.

Skills First Trainer and Assessor 
Academic Grants 
The Hon Gayle Tierney MP, Minister for Training and Skills 
announced three GOTAFE trainers as successful recipients 
of the 2017 Skills First Academic Grant program. 
The successful recipients were Tristan McNaught, a 
building and construction trainer at GOTAFE’s Wangaratta 
Campus, along with Elizabeth Powell and Renuka 
Vinothkumar, both multicultural program teachers from 
the Shepparton Campus. 

Each will receive up to $8,000 towards a post-graduate 
qualification in education and teaching and will help 
them better support the students they teach. Recipients 
will also receive individual coaching, workplace 
coaching and mentoring, and participate in professional 
development run by the VET Development Centre in 
Melbourne. 

Wurreker Award Teacher/Trainer of the 
Year
GOTAFE’s Phil Guthrie was announced as the Victorian 
Aboriginal Education Association’s Teacher/Trainer of 
the Year at the Association’s Wurreker Awards night. 
The award reflects Phil’s significant contribution to the 
education and learning pathways of local indigenous 
people and its impact on the Koorie community.

Horticulture trainer wins Protected 
Cropping Australia award
Horticulture trainer Leigh Taig attended the Protected 
Cropping Australia (PCA) National Conference in 
Adelaide, where he was presented with an Industry 
Training Award. The PCA is the industry’s national peak 
body, of which its members include hydroponic farmers 
and allied trades dealing specifically with the hydroponic 
and greenhouse industry throughout Australia.
Leigh’s award relates specifically to delivery of GOTAFE’s 
short accredited course, Greenhouse Technical 
Management, a technical training course in greenhouse 
and hydroponic production. This ‘masterclass’ course 
is delivered in conjunction with industry in regions 
of intensive horticulture. The model of bringing the 
training to the regional areas of Australia enables 
growers and allied trades the opportunity to easily 
participate in the course and also provides the 
opportunity to customise the course to meet local 
needs.

Fairley Leadership Program 
In December, two GOTAFE staff graduated from the 
Fairley Leadership Program. Jo Fasano, team leader 
of early childhood education and education support, 
and Emily Hamilton, team leader from the Marketing 
department, were presented as Fairley Fellows in front 
of 180 community leaders at the Park Lake Hotel in 
Shepparton. 
Over the course of the 11 month program, participants 
were exposed to 150 leaders from all sectors including 
politics, business, industry, sport, not-for-profit and 
community. They attended 15 seminar days, two 
weekend retreats and study tours to Canberra and 
Melbourne.
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Other Disclosures

Major commercial activities
Construction commenced in 2017 on the Goulburn Murray Trades Skills Centre, a project partnership of GOTAFE with 
a consortium of local schools. The new facility, located at McGuire College, Shepparton will have shared timetabling 
within the consortium. Funding of $9.356 million is from an equal contribution from GOTAFE and the Commonwealth. 
The project is being managed and delivered through the Victorian Department of Education and Training.
Design documentation for the new centre was completed in 2016. The new facility will initially accommodate building 
and construction, joinery and cabinet making industry training and feature specialist facilities, generalist teaching areas 
and other spaces designed to allow for integrated learning. 
A 50 year lease of the site will enable the opportunity for further stages of development. 
No other major commercial activities were added to the register during 2017.

Controlled entities
GOTAFE does not have any controlled entities.

Government advertising 
Details of the government advertising expenditure (campaigns with a media spend of $100 000 or greater) in 2017 
appear in the following table:

Name of campaign Apply Now – 2016/17 Campaign Apply Now – 2017/18 Campaign

Campaign summary
To raise profile of GOTAFE and 
generate awareness of 2017 course 
offerings

To raise profile of GOTAFE and 
generate awareness of 2018 
course offerings

Start/ end date 1 January 2017 – 28 February 2017 1 November 2017 – 31 December 
2017 (promoting 2018 courses)

Advertising (media) expenditure 2017 
(excluding GST) $142,567

$25,117
(further expenditure in 2018 for 
this campaign)

Creative and campaign development 
expenditure 2017 (excluding GST) N/A $53,250

Research and evaluation expenditure 
2017 (excluding GST) In house In house

Print and collateral expenditure 2017 
(excluding GST) N/A N/A

Other campaign expenditure 2017 
(excluding GST) N/A N/A



REPORT OF OPERATIONS     |    29

Information and communication technology (ICT) expenditure
For the 2017 reporting period, GOTAFE had a total ICT expenditure of $3.18 million, with the details shown below. 

($ million)

Business As Usual (BAU) ICT
expenditure (Total) $ 2.977

Non-Business As Usual (non-BAU) ICT expenditure
(Total = Operational expenditure and Capital Expenditure) $ 0.203

Operational expenditure
(non-BAU) ICT $ 0

Capital expenditure
(non-BAU) ICT $ 0.203

Consultants
In 2017, there were four consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were $10,000 or greater. The 
total expenditure incurred to December 2017 in relation to these consultancies is $136,023 (excluding GST). Details 
of individual consultancies can be viewed in the Annual Report at http://www.gotafe.vic.edu.au/contact/about-us/
corporate-publications. 
In 2017, there were eight consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultants were less than $10,000. The total 
expenditure incurred to December 2017 in relation to these consultancies is $45,045 (excluding GST).
Details of individual consultancies (valued at $10 000 or greater)

Consultant Purpose of 
consultancy

Start 
date End date

Total approved 
project fee
(excluding GST)

Expenditure 
2017
(excluding 
GST)

Future 
expenditure
(excluding 
GST)

Grant Thornton 
Australia Limited

Financial 
management audit July September $50,000

+ disbursements $51,829 0

Lander & Rogers 
Lawyers

Professional legal 
services August October $16,890 $16,890 0

Right Lane 
Consulting Pty Ltd

Strategic roadmap 
review/ development 
with the Board

August December $20,000 $20,045 0

U2B Pty Ltd trading 
as Resilient Futures

Strategic planning 
review of disruption 
affecting vocational 
education and 
training and its 
impacts

March September $47,260 $47,260 0
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National Competition Policy
Competitive neutrality requires government businesses 
to ensure where services compete or potentially 
compete with the private sector, any advantage arising 
solely from their government ownership be removed if 
they are not in the public interest. 

Government owned businesses may not always 
compete on equal terms because of advantages that 
arise solely from their public ownership (for example, 
tax exemptions). Victoria’s Competitive Neutrality 
Policy sets out the Victorian Government’s approach to 
competitive neutrality and requires government entities 
to apply measures to account for these advantages 
unless there are clear public interest reasons for not 
doing so.

GOTAFE complies with the requirements of the National 
Competition Policy and the Victorian Competitive 
Neutrality Policy and has developed and maintained 
a pricing model that ensures prices charged for 
business activity reflect all costs applicable, and that 
all advantages and disadvantages of Government 
ownership are included in pricing calculations.

Victorian Industry Participation Policy
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 
is to ensure that small and medium sized enterprises 
are given a full and fair opportunity to compete for 
government contracts. The policy requires government 
departments and agencies to consider competitive local 
suppliers for contracts in regional Victoria of $1 million 
or more. GOTAFE was compliant with the policy.

A local contractor, Crow Constructions was successful 
in the Department of Education and Training tender 
for construction of the Goulburn Murray Trades 
Skills Centre, and commenced construction in 2017. 
The selection criteria for this project addressed the 
requirements of the Victorian Industry Participation 
Policy – “Local Jobs First” program. 

Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1982 provides the 
right of the community to access information in 
the possession of the Government of Victoria and 
its departments and agencies. GOTAFE is a body 
established for a public purpose and as a State 
Government ‘agency’ is subject to the provisions of 
the Act and requests for information. Any requested 
document that is regarded as sensitive shall require the 
enquirer to make a Freedom of Information request. 

Enquiries regarding access to a document or record 
can be made by phone to the authorised Freedom of 
Information Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, on 1300 
GOTAFE (1300 468 233).

As detailed in s17 of the Freedom of Information Act 
1982 formal requests for access to documents or records 
are required to be directed in writing to:

CEO
Attention: Freedom of Information Officer
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 
152 – 200 Fryers Street, 
Shepparton, Victoria 3630

The requirements for making a Freedom of Information 
request are:

• it should be in writing;
• it should identify as clearly as possible which 

document or record is being requested; and
• it should be accompanied by the appropriate 

application fee (the fee may be waived in certain 
circumstances). Charges for access are in accordance 
with the Freedom of Information (Access Charges) 
Regulations 1983.

One request was made to GOTAFE to access information 
under Freedom of Information in 2017.

Further information regarding Freedom of Information 
can be found at www.foi.vic.gov.au.

Protected Disclosure 
The Protected Disclosure Act 2012 enables people to 
make disclosures about improper or corrupt conduct 
within the public sector without fear of reprisal. The 
Act aims to ensure openness and accountability by 
encouraging people to make disclosures and protecting 
them when they do. 

GOTAFE has a procedure to meet its obligations under 
the Act and any regulations made pursuant to the Act or 
guidelines issued by the Independent Broad-Based Anti-
Corruption Commission (IBAC). Any disclosures relating 
to GOTAFE personnel must be made directly to IBAC.

IBAC has not advised GOTAFE of any disclosures or 
sought any response to disclosures during 2017. 
However, IBAC did receive an allegation about GOTAFE 
from an anonymous source and referred the matter 
to the Department of Education and Training, who 
commenced an investigation in December 2017.

Victorian Ombudsman 
There was one Request for Information from the 
Victorian Ombudsman in 2017.

Carers Recognition Act
The Carers Recognition Act 2012 officially recognises 
care relationships and the role of carers in the 
community. The Act specifies obligations for state 
government agencies and other organisations that 
interact with people in care relationships.
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GOTAFE recognise that some of its staff and students 
have carer responsibilities. Staff and/or students in 
a carer’s role are encouraged to access a range of 
support services, which may include leave provisions, 
counselling, disability and welfare support.

Building and maintenance provisions
In 2017 the Institute focused on providing quality 
building and facilities infrastructure whilst ensuring 
compliance with the following: 

• Building Act 1993
• Building Regulations 2006 
• Building Code of Australia
• Disability Act 2006 
Accomplishments for 2017 included:
• maintained scheduled and reactive maintenance of 

assets
• compliance to the Victorian Building Authority - 

Essential Safety Measures
• compliance to the Department of Health and Human 

Services – Maintaining of Cooling Towers
• managing capital projects: commenced construction 

of the Goulburn Murray Trades Skills Centre, Archer 
St Shepparton, with completion due in mid-2018; 
and upgrade of the air conditioning system at the 
Seymour Campus.

Victorian Public Sector Travel Principles
GOTAFE has a policy and procedures in place to ensure 
it is compliant with the Victorian Public Sector Travel 
Principles.

Non-academic student fees
Students enrolling in government-subsidised programs 
in 2017 were provided a brochure on Fees and Charges. 
This detailed information on:
• fees and charges 
• exemptions and concessions 
• payment options and fee refunds.

Fees and charges and Student Services information were 
also available on GOTAFE’s website.

In 2017 the Institute did not charge a Student Services 
and Amenities Fee. 

The expenditure on student support services, amenities 
and activities included: orientation activities, youth 
pathway plans, counselling, disability support, 
first aid assistance and student activities, while 
information was provided in the student handbook and 
personally by support staff on various topics, including 
accommodation, public transport, health information, 
course advice and fee payment assistance. This 
expenditure amounted to:

Salary of Student Services, Disability and Counselling
Officers - $ 1,346,430
Non-Salary - $ 74,702

The services provided for students were further detailed 
within the Student Services brochures provided at the 
point of enrolment and displayed and made freely 
available throughout the Institute and on the GOTAFE 
website and through orientation.

Design and print requirements
GOTAFE’s Annual Report complies with the Financial 
Reporting Direction FRD 30C Standard requirements for 
the publication of annual reports.

 Additional information available on 
request
In compliance with the requirements of the Standing 
Directions of the Minister for Finance, details in respect 
of the items listed below have been retained by GOTAFE 
and are available on request, subject to the provisions of 
the Freedom of Information Act 1982. 

• a statement that declarations of pecuniary interests 
have been duly completed by all relevant officers;

• details of shares held by a senior officer as nominee 
or held beneficially in a statutory authority or 
subsidiary; 

• details of publications produced by the entity about 
itself, and how these can be obtained; 

• details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and 
levies charged by the entity; 

• details of any major external reviews carried out on 
the entity 

• details of major research and development activities 
undertaken by the entity; 

• details of overseas visits undertaken including a 
summary of the objectives and outcomes of each 
visit;

• details of major promotional, public relations and 
marketing activities undertaken by the entity to 
develop community awareness of the entity and its 
services; 

• a general statement on industrial relations within 
the entity and details of time lost through industrial 
accidents and disputes; 

• a list of major committees sponsored by the entity, 
the purposes of each committee and the extent to 
which the purposes have been achieved;

• details of all consultancies and contractors including 
consultants/contractors engaged, services provided, 
and expenditure committed to for each engagement.

Enquiries regarding details of any of the above should 
be addressed to:

Chief Executive Officer 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 
152 – 200 Fryers Street, 
Shepparton, Victoria 3630
Phone: 1300 GOTAFE (1300 468 233)
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Environmental sustainability
An Environmental Management Plan supported environmental compliance and environmental sustainability objectives 
for 2017. Key indicators appear in the following tables.

Energy

2017 2016

Indicator Electricity Natural gas Green 
power

Electricity Natural gas Green 
power

Total energy usage (MJ) 13,446,658 11,280,112 0 12,137,238 11,190,784 0

Greenhouse gas emissions 
associated with energy use (t CO2 e)

5,005 623 - 4,518 618 -

Actions undertaken

LED lights Continued upgrades to LED lighting systems 

Explanatory notes

Energy data above is for both training operations and office and is not able to be differentiated for office only. Energy 
data is not available for a shared/co-located site in Western Victoria and Warragul from March 2016. 

Transport

2017 2016

Indicator Diesel 
vehicles

LPG 
vehicles

Petrol 
vehicles

Diesel 
vehicles

LPG 
vehicles

Petrol 
vehicles

Total fuel consumption by vehicles 
(litres) 82,884 26,437 20,874 113,512 33,832 3,103

Total vehicle travel (km) 1,142,927 173,662 240,576 1,694,957 297,044 31,096

Total greenhouse gas emissions 
from vehicle fleet (t CO2 e) 238 45 52 326 58 8

Total distance travelled by aeroplane 
(km) 147,594 100,982

Total greenhouse gas emissions 
from aeroplane travel (t CO2 e) 37 25

Actions undertaken

ICT participation The increasing use of videoconferencing and Skype, and a reduction in the 
number of Institute vehicles has resulted in a 23% reduction of vehicle travel 
and 14.5% reduction in emissions.

Explanatory notes

Vehicles include cars (pool cars and manager-allocated vehicles) and buses for transport of students. Training vehicles 
(tractors, quad bikes) are excluded. Aeroplane travel includes staff flights; student excursion travel is excluded.
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Waste
Indicator 2017 2016

Landfill Comingle 
recycling

Compost Landfill Comingle 
recycling

Compost

Total units of waste disposed of 
(kg/yr)

104,143 33,614 Not 
available

96,459 32,523 Not 
available

Recycling rate (percentage of total 
waste)

24.4% 25.2%

Total greenhouse gas emissions 
from waste (t CO2 e)

Not available Not available

Actions undertaken

Waste management system Continuing to sort waste

Explanatory notes

Waste is for both training operations and office. Waste data is not available for a shared/co-located site in Western 
Victoria. Paperboard and paper is included with comingle recycling data above.

Paper
Indicator 2017 2016

Total units of copy paper used 
(reams) 7,366 7,992

Actions undertaken

Copy paper purchase Copy paper is Australian Forestry Standard certified and primarily certified as 
carbon neutral and 20% recycled

Explanatory notes
Aggregate paper use on GOTAFE printer/photocopier machines by staff and students or outsourced to the contracted 
printer decreased in 2017 as more use of learning management systems and electronic storage occurred.

Water
Indicator 2017 2016

Total units of metered water 
consumed (kilolitres) 38,481 35,329

Actions undertaken

Grounds watering Watering of landscapes scheduled at night

Explanatory notes

Kilolitres consumed data is potable/town water for training operations, grounds maintenance and office use for 
campuses other than a shared/co-located site in Western Victoria. Higher usage in 2017 impacted by a number of 
water leaks on campus, which have been rectified. 
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Risk Management Framework
The Victorian Government Risk Management 
Framework provides a minimum risk management 
standard for the Victorian public sector. The Framework 
describes what agencies are required to meet to 
demonstrate that they are managing risk effectively. 
The Framework adopts the Australian and New Zealand 
Standard AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 Risk Management 
– Principles and Guidelines, which provides a generic, 
internationally accepted basis for best practice risk 
management. 

GOTAFE has applied the Victorian Government 
Risk Management Framework in developing and 
implementing its risk management policy and 
procedure. Risk registers are established for all 
operational areas and are reviewed regularly with 
management, while RSM were contracted to undertake 
an internal audit program predicated on a strategic risk 
assessment. The Audit Committee reviews the Institute’s 
risk management framework and the status and change 
of identified risks, and provides advice to the Board.

The effectiveness of GOTAFE’s risk management 
processes to manage risks to a satisfactory level, has 
come under greater scrutiny following identification 
of breaches of contractual requirements with the 
Department of Education and Training relating to third-
party and brokerage arrangements.

As a result, GOTAFE has strengthened internal controls 
and improved its contract administration processes to 
ensure the correct procedures are followed, especially 
for third-party arrangements.

In addition, following a number of reviews during 
2017, GOTAFE has placed a renewed emphasis on 
not only meeting but also exceeding its compliance 
responsibilities including quality assurance monitoring.

Risks relating to insurance and indemnities are assured 
with relevant policies established with the Victorian 
Managed Insurance Authority (VMIA).

Attestation on compliance
Attestation on compliance with the Australian/New 
Zealand Risk Management Standard 

I, Joanne Dwyer, Chair of the Goulburn Ovens Institute 
of TAFE Board, certify that subject to the matters 
outlined above, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 
(GOTAFE) has risk management policies and procedures 
in place consistent with the Australian/New Zealand 
Risk Management Standard AS/NZS ISO31000:2009, 
the strategic risk profile of GOTAFE has been reviewed 
by the Audit Committee within the last 12 months, 
and an internal control system is in place that enables 
the Executive to understand, manage and satisfactorily 
control strategic risk exposures 

Joanne Dwyer
Chair of the Board
Wangaratta
19 March 2018

Attestation on compliance with 
Financial Management Compliance 
I, Joanne Dwyer on behalf of the Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE Board, certify that the Goulburn 
Ovens Institute of TAFE (GOTAFE) has complied with 
the applicable Standing Directions of the Minister for 
Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 
and Instructions, except for the following Material 
Compliance Deficiencies:

• Instruction 4.2.1 h), i), j) and Direction 5.1.6 a) - 
breaches of contractual requirements with the 
Department of Education and Training relating 
to third-party and brokerage arrangements. As a 
result, GOTAFE has strengthened internal controls 
and improved its contract administration processes 
to ensure the correct procedures are followed, 
especially for third-party arrangements.

Joanne Dwyer
Chair of the Board
Wangaratta
19 March 2018

Audit Committee 
The Board complies with the ‘Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance 2016’ item 3.2.1.1 (c); the Audit 
Committee have reviewed the annual financial statements and recommended these be authorised by the Board 
before they are released to Parliament by the Responsible Minister. 
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Financial Report
How this report is structured
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has presented its audited general purpose financial statements for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2017 in the following structure to provide users with the information about Goulburn Institute of 
TAFE’s  stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

Financial statements and accompanying notes
Comprehensive operating statement 1 39
Balance sheet 2 40
Cash flow statement 3 41
Statements of changes in equity 4 42

Notes to the financial statements
1. About this report 44

1.1 Basis of preparation 44
1.2 Compliance 44

2. How we earned our funds 45
2.1 Government contributions 45

2.2 Sale of goods and services 46
2.3 Other income 47

3. How we expended our funds 48
3.1 Employee benefits 48
3.2 Superannuation 51
3.3 Supplies and services 52

3.4 Operating lease payments 53
3.5 Other operating expenses 54

3.6 Grant expenses 54
4. The assets we invested in 55

4.1 Property, plant and equipment 55
4.2 Investment properties 58

4.3 Intangible assets 58
4.4 Investments and other financial assets 60

5. Balances from operations 61
5.1 Inventories 61
5.2 Receivables 62
5.3 Prepayments 64
5.4 Payables 64
5.5 Other liabilities 65

6. How we financed our operations 66
6.1 Cash and deposits 66
6.2 Contributed equity 67

7. Managing risks and uncertainties 68
7.1 Financial instruments 68
7.2 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 74
7.3 Fair value determination 75

8. Governance 80
8.1 Responsible persons 80
8.2 Remuneration of executives 81
8.3 Related parties 82
8.4 Auditors remuneration 84

9. Other disclosures 85
9.1 Other economic flows included in net result 85
9.2 Other equity reserves 85
9.3 Events after reporting date 85
9.4 Application of standards issued but not yet effective 86

1. The comprehensive operating statement comprises three components, being ‘net result from transactions’ (or termed as ‘net operating balance’), ‘other 
economic flows included in net result’, as well as ‘other economic flows – other comprehensive income’. The sum of the former two, together with the 
net result from discontinued operations, represents the net result. The net result is equivalent to profit or loss derived in accordance with AASs.

2. Assets and liabilities are presented in liquidity order with assets aggregated into financial assets and non-financial assets. Current and non-current 
assets and liabilities are disclosed in the notes, where relevant. In general, non-current assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled more 
than 12 months after the reporting period, except for the provisions of employee benefits, which are classified as current liabilities if Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE does not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liabilities within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

3. Cash flows are classified according to whether or not they arise from operating, investing, or financing activities. This classification is consistent with 
requirements under AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows.

4. The statement of changes in equity presents reconciliations of non-owner and owner changes in equity from opening balances at the beginning of 
the reporting period to the closing balances at the end of the reporting period. It also shows separately changes due to amounts recognised in the 
‘Comprehensive result’ and amounts related to ‘Transactions with owner in its capacity as owner’.



 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE (the institute) which 
comprises the: 

 balance sheet as at 31 December 2017 
 comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
 statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
 cash flow statement for the year then ended 
 notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 
 declaration by Chair of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finance & Accounting 

Officer. 

In my opinion the financial report is in accordance with Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 
1994 and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, 
including: 

 presenting fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the institute as at 31 
December 2017 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended  

 complying with Australian Accounting Standards. 

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the Act are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of 
the institute in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. My staff 
and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion. 

Board's 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial report  

The Board of the institute is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 1994 
and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, and for such internal 
control as the Board determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a 
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the institute’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 



2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit of 
the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the 
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the institute’s internal control 

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 

 conclude on the appropriateness of the Board's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the institute’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am 
required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the institute to cease to continue as a going 
concern.  

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that I identify during my audit. 

I also provide the Board with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards. 

 

 
MELBOURNE 
21 March 2018 

Charlotte Jeffries 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 



 

 

 
 
 

Auditor-General’s Independence Declaration 
 

To the Board, the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an 
independent officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his 
powers and responsibilities are to be exercised. 

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public body and for the purposes of 
conducting an audit has access to all documents and property, and may report to parliament matters 
which the Auditor-General considers appropriate. 

Independence Declaration 
As auditor for the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE for the year ended 31 December 2017, I declare that, 
to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

 no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit. 

 no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 

 

 
MELBOURNE 
21 March 2018 

Charlotte Jeffries 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Declaration by Chair of the Board,  
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finance
& Accounting Officer
  

We certify that the attached financial statements for the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has been 
prepared in accordance with Standing Direction 5.2 of the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable 
Financial Reporting Directions issued under that legislation, the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits 
Commision Act 2012, Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, 
balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement of changes in equity and notes to and forming part of the 
financial report, presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 31 December 2017 and 
financial position of the Institute as at 31 December 2017. 

At the date of signing this financial report, we are not aware of any circumstance that would render 
any particulars included in the financial report to be misleading or inaccurate. There are reasonable 
grounds to believe that the Institute will be able to pay its debts as and when they became due and 
payable. 

The Board Chair and the Chief Executive Officer sign this declaration as delegates of, and in 
accordance with a resolution of, the Board of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE.

   

Chief Finance & Accounting Officer
Robert Faulkner
Wangaratta
19 March 2018

Chair of the Board
Joanne Dwyer
Wangaratta
19 March 2018

Acting Chief Executive Officer
Jennifer Oliver
Wangaratta
19 March 2018
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Comprehensive operating statement 
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Note
2017 

$’000
2016 

$’000

Continuing Operations
Income from transactions

Government  contributions 2.1  45,807  42,020 
Sale of goods and services 2.2  15,991  15,017 
Interest income 6.1.2  457  491 
Other income 2.3  881  1,216 

Total income from transactions  63,136  58,744 

Expenses from transactions
Employee benefits 3.1.1  40,004  36,167 
Depreciation and amortisation 4.1.1, 4.3  4,818  4,712 
Grant expenses 3.6  -    360 
Supplies and services 3.3  11,619  11,099 
Other operating expenses 3.5  4,377  4,274 

Total expenses from transactions  60,818  56,612 

Net result from transactions (net operating balance)  2,318  2,132 

Other economic flows included in net result
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-financial assets (a) 4.1.2  213  137 
Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments (b) 7.1.1  (183)  (558)
Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows 9.1  293  (505)

Total other economic flows included in net result  323  (926)
Net result from continuing operations  2,641  1,206 
Net result  2,641  1,206 

Other economic flows - other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Changes in physical asset revaluation surplus 9.2  2,336  8,355 

Total other economic flows – Other comprehensive income  2,336  8,355 

Comprehensive result  4,977  9,561 

The comprehensive operating statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

Notes:   

(a) Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets’ includes unrealised and realised gains/(losses) from revaluations, 
impairements and disposals of all physical assets and intangible assets, except when these are taken through 
the asset revaluation surplus.   

(b) Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments’ includes bad and doubtful debts from other economic flows, 
unrealised and realised gains/(losses) from revaluations, impairments and reversals of impairments and 
reversals of impairement, and gains/(losses) from disposals of financial instruments, except when these are 
taken through the financial assets available-for-sale revaluation surplus.   
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Balance sheet
As at 31 December 2017

Note
2017 

$’000
2016 

$’000

Assets
Financial assets

Cash and deposits 6.1  19,892 1,275
Receivables 5.2  10,880 9,594
Investments and other financial assets 4.4  12,910 28,599

Total financial assets  43,682 39,468

Non-financial assets
Inventories 5.1  95  71 
Prepayments 5.3  994 659
Property, plant and equipment 4.1  93,164 89,826
Investment properties 4.2  2,075 2,060
Intangible assets 4.3  2,907 2,873

Total non-financial assets 99,235 95,489

Total assets 142,917 134,957

Liabilities
Payables 5.4  5,939 3,115
Employee provisions 3.1.2  8,069 8,012
Other liabilities 5.5  205 103

Total liabilities 14,213 11,230

Net assets 128,704 123,727

Equity
Accumulated  surplus/(deficit)  25,635 22,994
Physical asset revaluation surplus 9.2  56,989 54,653
Contributed capital 6.2  46,080 46,080

Net worth  128,704 123,727

The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Note
2017 

$’000
2016 

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts

Government contributions  46,460  41,632 
User fees and charges received  14,635  14,030 

Goods and services tax recovered  198  172 

Interest received  482  564 
Other receipts  926  3,987 

Total receipts  62,701  60,385 

Payments

Payments to suppliers and employees  (53,130)  (52,926)
Goods and services tax paid  (987)  (995)

Total payments  (54,117)  (53,921)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 6.1.1  8,584  6,464 

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investments  22,227  (47,009)

Proceeds from sale of investments  (6,538)  31,540 

Purchases of non-financial assets  (5,869)  (1,550)

Proceeds from sale of non-financial assets  213  94 
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities  10,033  (16,925)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  18,617  (10,461)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  1,275  11,736 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 6.1  19,892  1,275 

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Note

Physical asset 
revaluation 

surplus
Accumulated 

surplus
Contributions 

by owner Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Balance at 1 January 2016  46,298  21,788  46,080  114,166 

Net result for the year  -  1,206  -  1,206 

Other economic flows - other comprehensive income  8,355  -  -  8,355 

Balance at 31 December 2016  54,653  22,994  46,080  123,727 

Net result for the year  2,641  -  2,641 

Other economic flows - other comprehensive income  2,336  -  -  2,336 

Year ended 31 December 2017  56,989  25,635  46,080  128,704 

The statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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These financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, the functional and presentation currency of 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE, and have been 
prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention unless a different measurement basis is 
specifically disclosed in notes associated with the 
item measured on that different basis. Amounts in 
the financial report have been rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.
The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in 
the preparation of these financial statements whereby 
assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses are 
recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, 
regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required 
to be made about the carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on professional judgements derived from 
historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and associated assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised and also in future periods that are 
affected by the revision.

Judgements made by management in the application 
of Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) that have 
significant effects on the financial statements and 
estimates relate to:
 Ì the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, 

plant and equipment (refer to note 7.3); and
 Ì actuarial assumptions for employee benefit 

provisions based on likely tenure of existing staff, 
patterns of leave claims, future salary movements 
and future discount rates (refer to note 3.1).

These financial statements cover Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE as an individual reporting entity.
Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which 
case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense.
Funding risk
Funding risk is the risk of over reliance on a particular 
funding source to the extent that a change in that 
funding source could impact on the operating results of 
the current year and future years.
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has substantial 
economic dependency on Government operating and 
capital contributions. 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE manages funding risk 
by continuing to diversify and increase funding from 
commercial activities, both domestically and offshore.
There has been no significant change in Goulburn 
Oven Institute of TAFE’s exposure, or its objectives, 
policies and processes for managing funding risk or the 
methods used to measure this risk from the previous 
reporting period.

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is a statutory body 
corporate, established pursuant to an Act made by the 
Victorian Government under the Education and Training 
Reform Act 2006 Section 3.1.12 4(a). 
Its registered office and principal address is:
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE 
Fryers Street 
Shepparton, Victoria, Australia 3630

1.1 Basis of preparation

About this report
For the year ended 31 December 2017

1.2 Compliance information
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management Act 
1994 (FMA) and applicable AAS which include Interpretations, issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB) and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012. In particular, they are presented in a 
manner consistent with the requirements of the AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector 
Financial Reporting.

For the purposes of preparing financial statements, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is classed as a not-for-profit 
entity. Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable to not-for-profit entities have been applied.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information 
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring  that the substance of the underlying transactions 
or other events is reported. Accounting policies applied are disclosed in sections where the related financial statement 
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line item is disclosed. 

2.1 Government contributions

 Grants and other transfers
2017 2016

$'000 $'000

State government - contestable  20,769  20,052 

State government - other contributions  24,738  21,722 

Commonwealth Government - other contributions  -    136 

Total government contributions - operating  45,507  41,910 
Commonwealth - capital  -    -   
State - capital  300  110 

Total Government contributions - capital  300  110 

Total Government contributions  45,807  42,020 

Government contributions are recognised as revenue in the period when the following conditions are met: Goulburn 
Ovens Institute of TAFE obtains control of the contributions or the right to receive the contribution, the economic 
benefits comprising the contribution will flow to Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE and the amount of the contribution 
can be measured reliably. 

During the current year, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE received additional government contributions for the 
development of asset maintenance software, Stronger TAFE funding, TAFE Rescue Funding for community support 
obligations,  Regional and Specialist Training Fund and other government contributions.

How we earn our funds
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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2.2 Sale of goods and services
2017 2016

$'000 $'000

Student fees and charges 5,092 5,193
Fee for service - government 6,884 5,851

Fee for service - international operations - onshore 81 13
Fee for service - other 3,638 3,576
Other non-course fees and charges
Sale of goods 296 384

Total sale of goods and services 15,991 15,017

Student fees and charges 
Student fees and charges revenue is recognised by reference to the percentage completion of education and training 
services provided. Where student fees and charges revenue has been clearly received in respect of courses or programs 
to be delivered in the following year, any non-refundable portion of the fees are treated as revenue in the year of 
receipt and the balance as revenue in advance.

Fee for service 
Fee for service revenue is recognised by reference to the percentage completion of each contract, i.e. in the reporting 
period in which the services are rendered. Where fee for service revenue of a reciprocal nature has been clearly 
received in respect of programs or services to be delivered in the following year, such amounts are disclosed as revenue 
in advance.

Revenue from sale of goods 
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised by Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE when:

 Ì the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been transferred to the buyer;
 Ì Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually 

associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
 Ì the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
 Ì it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to Goulburn Ovens Institute of 

TAFE; and
 Ì the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

How we earn our funds
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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2.3 Other income
2017 2016

$'000 $'000
Rental income 224 440

Donations, bequests and contributions 29  19 

Scholarships 12 17

Other revenue 616 740

Total other income 881 1,216

Rental income 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE receives rental income for buildings leased out to the general public when the 
buildings are excess to the current requirement, at current market rates and are brought to account when Goulburn 
Ovens Institute of TAFE’s right to receive the rental is established.

Rental income is also received from leasing of investment properties which is recognised on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the relevant lease and brought to account when Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s right to receive the 
rental is established.

Operating leases receivable

Receivables:
2017 2016

$'000 $'000

Within one year 345 490

Later than one year and not later than five years 651 740

Later than five years 457 548

Total lease receivables 1453 1778

GST payable on the above  (132)  (162)

Net operating lease receivables 1,321 1,616

All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease are recognised as an integral part of the net 
consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the incentive’s nature or form or the timing of 
payments.
In the event that lease incentives are given to the lessee, the aggregate cost of incentives are recognised as a reduction 
of rental income over the lease term, on a straight-line basis unless another systematic basis is more representative of 
the time pattern over which the economic benefit of the leased asset is diminished

Donations bequests and contribution
Donations, bequests and contributions are recognised when received and the amount can be measured reliably. 
Other revenue
Other revenue is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. Other revenue represents income 
arising from hire of buildings and rooms and recoveries for workcover claims. 

How we earn our funds
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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3.1 Employee benefits  
Significant judgement and estimates: Provision for employee benefits
The present value of employee benefit obligations including annual leave, long service leave and on-costs are 
determined using actuarial valuation. 
An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. 
These include:
Employee tenure period [16 years] [2016: 27 years];
Future salary growth rate [3.63 %] [2016: 3.81 %]; 
Long Service Leave bond discount rate [2.68 %] [2016: 2.72 %];
Payroll tax on-cost rate [4.94 %] [2016: 5.40 %];
Workcover on-cost rate [0.68 %] [2016: 0.55 %];and
Superannuation on-cost rate [9.50 %] [2016: 9.50 %]
All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. 

3.1.1 Employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement

Expenses
2017 2016

$'000 $'000

Salaries, wages, overtime and allowances  30,185  28,681 

Defined contribution superannuation expense  3,016  2,750 

Defined benefit superannuation expense  99  109 

Payroll tax  1,625  1,633 

Worker’s compensation  223  128 

Long service leave  849  755 

Annual leave  2,349  1,143 

Termination benefits  232  49 

Other  1,426  919 

Total employee benefits 40,004 36,167

Employee expenses include all costs related to employment, including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave 
entitlements, termination payments and WorkCover premiums. Superannuation disclosed above are employer 
contributions that are paid or payable during the reporting period.
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE recognises 
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an 
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after balance sheet date are 
discounted to present value.

How we expended our funds
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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3.1.2. Employee benefits in the balance sheet

Current provisions
2017 2016

$'000 $'000
Employee benefits - Annual leave

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle within 12 months  1,880  1,683 

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle after 12 months  180  272 

Employee benefits - Long service leave

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle within 12 months  254  138 

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle after 12 months  3,991  3,974 

Provisions for on-costs

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle within 12 months  326  328 

Unconditional and expected to wholly settle after 12 months  650  679 

Total current provisions for employee benefits 7,281 7,074
Non-current provisions

Employee benefits  681  809 
Employee benefits on-costs  107  129 

Total non-current provisions 788 938
Total employee provisions 8,069 8,012

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service 
leave for services rendered to the reporting date.

How we expended our funds
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Reconciliation of movements in on-cost provision 
2017

$'000
Opening balance 1,136

Additional provisions recognised 395

Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of future economic benefits  (402)

Unwind of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate  (46)

Closing balance 1,083

Current 976
Non-current 107

Wages, salaries and annual leave 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits annual leave are all recognised in the provision for 
employee benefits as ‘current liabilities’, because Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not have an unconditional right 
to defer settlements of these liabilities.
Depending on the expectation of  the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries, annual leave are measured 
at:
 Ì undiscounted value – if Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or
 Ì present value – if Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability, even where Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not expect 
to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.

The components of the current LSL liability are measured at:
 Ì nominal value (undiscounted value) – component that is expected to be wholly settled within 12 months; and
 Ì present value (discounted value) – component that is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non-current LSL liability is measured 
at present value. Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a 
transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest for which it is then recognised 
as an other economic flow. The discount rate applied is as advised by the Minister for Finance.

Provision for on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are recognised separately from 
the provision of employee benefits.

How we expended our funds
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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3.2 Superannuation
Employees of Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit plan(s) 
provides benefits based on years of service and final average salary.
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities in respect of the plan(s) because 
the entity has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation 
is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and Finance recognises and 
discloses the State’s defined benefit liabilities in its financial statements.
However, superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as part of employee 
benefits in the Comprehensive Operating Statement of Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE. The name and details of the 
major employee superannuation funds and contributions made by Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE are as follows:

Paid 
contribution for 

the year

Contribution 
outstanding at year 

end

2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Defined benefit plans:

State Superannuation Fund - revised and new  99  109  -    -   

Defined contribution plans:

VicSuper  1,498  1,485  -    -   

Other  1,518  1,265  -    -   

Total  3,115  2,859  -    -   

Defined contribution plans 
Contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed when they become  payable.

Defined benefit plans 
The expenses recognised represents the contributions made by Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE to the 
superannuation plan in respect of current services of current Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE staff which are based 
on the relevant rules of each plan.

How we expended our funds
For the year ended 31 December 2017



52    |    GOTAFE 2017 ANNUAL REPORT

3.3 Supplies and services

Note
2017 2016

$'000 $'000

Purchase of supplies and consumables  1,846  1,769 

Communication expenses  511  598 

Contract and other services  4,198  5,028 

Cost of goods sold/distributed (ancillary trading)  327  402 

Building repairs and maintenance  801  766 

Operating lease payments 3.4  2,035  938 

Fees and charges  1,901  1,598 

Total supplies and services  11,619  11,099 

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying 
amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expensed when the inventories are distributed.

Operating lease payments are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis more representative of the time pattern of the benefits dervived from the use of the leased asset.

Fees and charges are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Other expenditure commitments
Commitments for requistions to purchase goods and services are in existence at reporting date but not recognised as 
liabilities; payable.

Payable: $'000 $'000

Within one year  704  389 

Total other expenditure commitments  704  389 

GST reclaimable on the above (64) (35) 

Net operating lease commitments  640  354 

How we expended our Funds
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3.4 Operating lease payments
2017 2016

$'000 $'000

Operating lease rental expenses  2,035  938 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments payable
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

Payable:
2017 2016

$'000 $'000

Within one year  367  657 

Later than one year but not later than five years  617  1,411 

 -    -   

Total operating lease commitments  984  2,068 

GST reclaimable on the above  (89)  (188)

Net operating lease commitments  895  1,880 

Operating lease payments, including any contingent rentals, are recognised as an expense in the comprehensive operating 
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the 
time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset. The leased asset is not recognised in the balance sheet.

All incentives for the agreement of a new or renewed operating lease are recognised as an integral part of the net 
consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the incentive’s nature or form or the timing of payments.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, the aggregate cost of incentives are recognised 
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis, unless another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

How we expended our funds
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3.5 Other operating expenses
2017 2016

$'000 $'000

General expenses  593  922 

Marketing and promotional expenses  1,000  769 

Utilities  1,049  887 

Audit fees and services  110  59 

Staff development  387  443 

Travel and motor vehicle expenses  757  839 

Insurances  173  184 

Direct operating expenses of investment properties generating rental income  1  2 

Subtotal  4,070  4,105 

Equipment below capitalisation threshold  307  169 

Total other operating expenses  4,377  4,274 

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations.

Other operating expenses are recognised as when they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they 
relate to.

3.6 Grant expenses
2017 2016

$'000 $'000

Specific purpose grants for on-passing  -    360 

Total grant expenses  -    360 

Grant expenses are contributions of the Institute resources to another party for specific or general purposes where 
there is no expectation that the amount will be repaid in equal value (either by money, goods or services).

Grant expenses are recognised in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. Grants can take the form of 
money, assets, goods, services or forgiveness of liabilities.

How we expended our funds
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment
Significant judgement:  Fair value measurements of assets and liabilities

Fair value measurement
Fair value determination requires judgement and the use of assumptions.  This section discloses the most significant 
assumptions used in determing fair values.  Changes to assumptions could have a material impact on the results and 
financial position of Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE.

In accordance with government purpose classifications, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s property, plant 
and equipment are assets used for the purpose of education. Property, plant & equipment includes all 
operational assets.

Gross carrying amount Accumulated depreciation Net carrying amount
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Land at fair value  14,645  12,803  -    -    14,645  12,803 
Buildings  71,164  76,872  -    (3,001)  71,164  73,871 
Assets under construction  5,066  591  -    -    5,066  591 
Plant and equipment  13,798  13,059  (11,868)  (10,927)  1,930  2,132 
Motor vehicles  2,079  2,540  (1,720)  (2,111)  359  429 

Net carrying amount  106,752  105,865  (13,588)  (16,039)  93,164  89,826 

Initial recognition
Items of property, plant and equipment, are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is received for no or nominal consideration, the cost is the 
asset’s fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost of constructed non-financial physical assets includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour 
on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads.
Subsequent measurement
Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Fair value is determined with regard to the asset’s highest and best use (considering legal or physical restrictions 
imposed on the asset, public announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset) and is 
summarised below by asset category.

Specialised land and specialised buildings: The market approach is also used for specialised land, although is adjusted 
for the community service obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of the land being valued.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset to 
the extent that is also equally applicable to market participants.

The fair value of plant, equipment and vehicles, is normally determined by reference to the asset’s depreciated 
replacement cost. 

Revaluations of non-financial physical assets
Non-current physical assets measured at fair value are revalued in accordance with Financial Reporting Directions 
(FRDs) issued by the Minister for Finance. 

Refer to Note 7.3 for additional information on fair value determination of property, plant and equipment. 

The assets we invested in
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment

Charge for the period
2017 2016

$’000 $'000
Buildings  3,202  3,001 

Plant and equipment  941  841 

Motor vehicles  241  459 

Total depreciation  4,384  4,301 

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land. 

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated 
residual value, over its estimated useful life.

Depreciation methods and rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Class of assets Useful Life

Buildings 15 - 40 years (2016: 15 - 40 years)

Plant and Equipment 7 years (2016: 7 years)

Computer and Electronic Equipment 3 - 7 years (2016: 3 - 7 years)
Furniture and Fittings 10 years (2016: 10 years)
Motor Vehicles 4 years (2016: 4 years)
Internal use software 10 years (2016: 10 years)

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting 
period, and adjustments made where appropriate.

Impairment 
Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the asset may be impaired.

The assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds their recoverable amount. Where an 
asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is written off as an ‘other economic flow’, except 
to the extent that it can be debited to an asset revaluation surplus amount applicable to that class of asset.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its 
recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.

The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at its fair value less costs to sell.

The assets we invested in
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
4.1.2 Gain/loss on property, plant and equipment    

2017 2016

$’000 $'000

Revaluation of investment property 15 70

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  198  67 

Total gain/(loss) on non-financial assets  213  137 

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains and losses from revaluations, 
impairments, and disposals of all physical assets and intangible assets.

Any gain or loss on disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date control of the asset is passed to the buyer and is 
determined after deducting from the proceeds, the carrying value of the asset at the time.

4.1.3 Reconciliation of movements in carrying amount of property, plant and equipment

Land Buildings
Assets under 
construction

Plant and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles Total

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening balance 12,803 12,803 73,871  68,094 591  441 2,132 2,313  429  668 89,826  4,319 

Additions  -    -    -    -   4,476  737  739  519  190  247  5,405  1,503 

Disposals  -    -    -    (23)  -    -    -    -    (19)  (27)  (19)  (50)

Transfers into/(out 
of) assets under 
construction

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    141  -    -    -    141 

Transfer to disposal 
group held for sale

 -    -    -    446  -    (587)  -    -    -    -    -    (141)

Revaluation of PPE  1,842  -    494  8,355  -    -    -    -    -    -    2,336  8,355 

Depreciation  -    -   (3,202) (3,001)  -    -   (941)  (841)  (241) (459) (4,384) (4,301)

Closing balance 14,645 12,803 71,163  73,871 5,067  591 1,930 2,132  359  429 93,164 89,826 

4.1.4. Capital commitments
2017 2016

$’000 $'000
Payable:

Within one year 2,685 6,470

Later than one year but not later than five years 19,036 0
Total capital expenditure commitments (inclusive of GST) 21,721 6,470

GST reclaimable on the above  (1,975)  (588)
Net capital expenditure commitments (exclusive of GST) 19,746 5,882

These capital commitments are recorded at their nominal value and inclusive of GST. 

The assets we invested in
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4.2 Investment properties

2017 2016

$’000 $'000

Balance at beginning of financial year 2,060 1990

Net gain/(loss) from fair value adjustments 15  70 

Balance at end of financial year  2,075  2,060 

Investment properties represent properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. Investment 
property excludes properties held to meet service delivery objectives of the Institute. Investment properties are 
initially recognised at cost. Costs incurred subsequent to initital acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that 
future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset will flow to the Institute.

Subsequent to initital recognition at cost, investment properties are revalued to fair value with changes in the fair 
values recognised as other economic flows in the comprehensive operating statement in the period that they arise. 
Fair values are determined based on a market comparable approach that reflects recent transaction prices for similiar 
properties. These properties are neither depreciation nor tested for impairment.

4.3 Intangible assets

Software
2017 2016

$’000 $'000

Gross carrying amount

Opening balance  12,103  12,103 

Additions  468  -   
Closing balance  12,571  12,103 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Opening balance  (9,230)  (8,819)
Amortisation charge (a)  (434)  (411)
Closing balance  (9,664)  (9,230)

Net book value at end of financial year  2,907  2,873 

Notes

(a) The consumption of intangible produced assets is included in ‘depreciation’ line item, where the 
consumption of the intangible non produced assets is included in ‘net gain/(loss) on non financial assets’ line 
item on the comprehensive operating statement.

Initial recognition 
Purchased intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. When recognition criteria in accordance with AASB 138 
Intangible Assets are met, internally generated intangible assets are recognised at cost. Subsequently, intangible 
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use, that is, when it is in the location and condition necessary for it 
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
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4.3 Intangible assets (continued)
An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal 
project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following are demonstrated:

 Ì the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
 Ì the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
 Ì the ability to use or sell the asset;
 Ì the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
 Ì the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or 

sell the intangible asset; and
 Ì the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development

Subsequent measurement 
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a straight basis over their useful lives. The amortisation period and 
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each annual 
reporting period. 

Impairment 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (and intangible assets not yet available for use) are tested annually for 
impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Intangible assets with finite useful 
lives are tested for impairment whenever an indication of impairment is identified.
If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value exceeds 
their possible recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is 
written off by a charge to the Comprehensive Operating Statement. 
If there is an indication that there has been a change in the estimate of an asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. This reversal of the 
impairment loss occurs only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior 
years.

Significant intangible assets
The Institute has capitalised software development expenditure of its Technology One Student Management System 
(SMS) Software. The carrying amount of the capitalised software development expenditure is $12.103M (2016: 
$12.103M)  The useful life of the SMS software was determined as ten years and it will be fully amortised in 2023. 
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4.4 Investments and other financial assets

Current investments and other financial assets
2017 2016

$’000 $'000

Australian dollar term deposits > three months 12,910  28,599 

Total current investments and other financial assets 12,910  28,599 

Total investments and other financial assets  12,910  28,599 

Ageing analysis of investments and other financial assets

Carrying 
amount

Not past 
due and not 

impaired

Past due but not impaired

Less than 1 
month 1-3 months 3 months - 

1 year 1-5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2017
Term deposits 12,910 12,910 - - - -
Total  12,910 12,910 - -  - -

2016
Term deposits 28,599 28,599 - - - -
Total  28,599 28,599 - -  - -
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5.1 Inventories
2017 2016

$’000 $'000
Supplies and consumables - at cost 8 9

Work in progress - at cost 40 40

Inventories held for sale  47 22
Total current inventories  95 71
Total inventories 95 71

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted for any loss of service potential.    
    

Balances from operations
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5.2 Receivables

Contractual
2017 2016

$’000 $'000

Sale of goods and services  7,497  6,823 

Provision for doubtful contractual receivables  (557)  (1,420)

Accrued investment income  63  88 
Revenue receivable  3,618  3,829 
Deposits and Bonds  1  1 
Statutory
GST input tax credit recoverable  258  273 

Total receivables  10,880  9,594 
Represented by
Current receivables  10,880  9,594 

 Non-current receivables  -    -   

Receivables consist of:
 Ì statutory receivables, which include predominantly amounts owing from the Victorian Government and GST input 

tax credits recoverable; and
 Ì contractual receivables, which include mainly debtors in relation to goods and services, loans to third parties, 

accrued investment income, and finance lease receivables.
Receivables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable. Receivables that are contractual are classified as 
financial instruments. Statutory receivables are not classified as financial instruments.
Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method, less an allowance for impairment.
Doubtful debts 
Receivables are assessed for bad and doubtful debts on a regular basis. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised 
when there is objective evidence that the debts may not be collected and bad debts are written off when identified. In 
assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial instruments, professional 
judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates, averages and other computational methods in 
accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.
A provision is made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods when there is objective evidence that 
an individual receivable is impaired. The increase in the provision for the year is recognised in the net result. 
Bad debts considered as written off by mutual consent are classified as a transaction expense. Bad debts not written 
off, but included in the provision for doubtful debts, are classified as other economic flows in the net result.

Movement in the provision for doubtful contractual receivables
2017 2016

$’000 $'000

Balance at the beginning of the year  (1,420)  (1,155)

Decrease in provision due to transfers out/disposed outputs  1,046  293 

Increase in provision recognised in net result  (183)  (558)

Balance at the end of the year  (557)  (1,420)

Balances from operations
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5.2 Receivables (continued)
Ageing analysis of contractual receivables

Carrying 
amount

Not past 
due 

and not 
impaired

Past due but not impaired

Less than 1 
month 1-3 months 3 months – 

1 year 1-5 years

2017 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Sale of goods and services  6,940  231  1,560  1,631  3,518  -   
Accrued investment income  63  63  -    -    -    -   
Revenue receivables  3,618  2,517  -    538  350  213 
Other receivables  1  -    -    -    -    1 

Total  10,622  2,811  1,560  2,169  3,868  214 
2016

Sale of goods and services 5,403 473 79 1923 2928  -   
Accrued investment income 88 88  -    -    -    -   
Revenue receivables 3,829 3,095 20 20 48 646
Other receivables 1  -    -    -    -   1

Total 9,321 3,656 99 1,943 2,976 647

Note: The disclosures above excludes statutory payables (e.g. amounts arising to Victorian Government and GST 
taxes payable).

The average credit period on sales of goods is 31 days. No interest is charged on receivables.

There are no financial assets that have their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or 
impaired, and they are stated at the carrying amounts as indicated.     

Balances from operations
For the year ended 31 December 2017



64    |    GOTAFE 2017 ANNUAL REPORT

5.3 Prepayments
2017 2016

$’000 $'000
Current

Prepayments  986  649 

Total current prepayments  986  649 

Non-current
Prepayments  8  10 

Total non-current prepayments  8  10 
Total prepayments  994  659 

Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods and services or that part of expenditure made in one 
accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

5.4 Payables
2017 2016

$’000 $'000

Contractual

Supplies and services  4,038  1,750 

Other employee entitlements payable within 12 months  1,365  782 
Statutory

GST payable  457  375 
PAYG payable  24  -   
FBT payable  52  70 
Payroll tax payable  3  138 

Total payables  5,939  3,115 
Represented by

  Current payables 5,939  3,115 
 Non-current payables  -    -   

Payables consist of:
 Ì contractual payables, such as accounts payable, and unearned income. Accounts payable represent liabilities for 

goods and services provided to Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE prior to the end of the financial year that are 
unpaid, and arise when Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of 
the purchase of those goods and services; and

 Ì statutory payables, such as goods and services tax, fringe benefits tax and payroll tax payables.

Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as financial liabilities at amortised cost. 
Statutory payables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial 
instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from a 
contract.
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5.4 Payables (continued)
Maturity Analysis of contractual payables

Carrying 
amount

Nominal 
amount

Less than 
1 month

1-3 
months

3 months 
– 1 year 1-5 years 5+ 

years

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2017
Supplies and services 4,038 4,038 3,986 52 - - -
Revenue in advance 205 205 205 - - - -
Other employee entitlements 
payable within 12 months  1,365  1,365 1,365 - - - -

Total 5,608 5,608 5,556 52 0 0 0
2016
Supplies and services 1,750 1,750 1,364 386 - - -
Revenue in advance 103 103 103 - - - -
Other employee entitlements 
payable within 12 months 782 782 782 - - - -

Total 2,635 2,635 2,249 386 0 0 0

Note: The disclosures above excludes statutory payables (e.g. amounts arising to Victorian Government and GST taxes 
payable).

Notes: The average credit period is 30 days. No interest is charged on the other payables. Terms and conditions of 
amounts payable to other government agencies vary according to a particular agreement with that agency.

5.5 Other liabilities

Current
2017 2016

$’000 $'000

Revenue received in advance  205  103 

Total current other liabilities  205  103 
Total other liabilities  205  103 

Revenue received in advance 
Any fees received by Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE during the current financial year in respect of services to be 
provided in the following financial year are classified as liabilities and recognised as revenue received in advance.  
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6.1 Cash and deposits
2017 2016

$’000 $'000

Total cash and deposits disclosed in the balance sheet 19,892 1,275

Balance as per cash flow statement 19,892 1,275

The Institute does not hold a large cash reserve in its bank accounts, but due to timing of funding received from the 
Department of Education and Training in late December has substantially increased the cash holdings balance at year 
end.  The Institute has an account with Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TCV) where these excess funds have been 
transferred and invested accordingly in early January 2018.  Cash received by the Institute from the generation of 
income is generally paid into the Institute’s bank accounts. Similarly, any Institute expenditure, including those in the 
form of cheques drawn by the Institute for the payment of goods and services to its suppliers and creditors are made 
via the Institute’s bank accounts.

Cash and deposits, including cash equivalents, comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, deposits at call and those 
highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less, which are held for the purpose of meeting 
short term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes, and which are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes bank overdrafts, which are 
included as borrowings on the balance sheet.

6.1.1 Reconciliation of operating result to net cash flows from operating activities
2017 2016

$’000 $'000

Net result for the year  2,641  1,206 

Non cash movements
Depreciation & amortisation of non-financial assets  4,818  4,712 
Net (gain)/loss on sale of non-financial assets  (198)  (67)
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of investment property  (15)  (70)
Net (gain)/loss on financial instruments  183  558 

Movements in assets and liabilities

Decrease/(increase) in receivables  (1,469)  (505)

Decrease/(increase) in inventories  (24)  10 
Decrease/(increase) in other assets  (334)  218 
Increase/(decrease) in payables  2,767  (524)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  133  858 
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities  82  68 

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities  8,584  6,464 

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are presented as 
operating cash flows.
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6.1.2 Interest income

Interest from financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss
2017 2016

$’000 $'000

Interest on bank deposits  20  285 
Other miscellaneous interest income  437  206 

Total interest from financial assets not at fair value through profit and loss  457  491 
Total interest income  457  491 

Interest income includes interest received on bank term deposits and other investments and the unwinding over time 
of the discount on financial assets. Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method which allocates 
the interest over the relevant period.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability 
(or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or financial liability.      

6.2 Contributed equity 

Contributed capital 2017 2016
$’000 $'000

Balance  at  1  January  46,080  46,080 
Balance at 31 December  46,080  46,080 

Contributed capital 
Funding that are in the nature of contributions by the Victorian State government are treated as contributed capital 
when designated in accordance with UIG Interpretation 1038 Contribution by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public 
Sector Entities. Commonwealth capital funds are not affected and are treated as income.
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7.1 Financial instruments
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
Categories of financial instruments

Contractual financial assets 2017 2016
$’000 $'000

Loans and receivables and cash
  Cash and deposits  19,892 1,275
  Trade receivables  6,940 5,403
  Other receivables  1 1
  Revenue receivable  3,681 3,917
 Term Deposits 12,910 28,599

Total contractual financial assets  43,424  39,195 

Contractual financial liabilities
2017 2016

$’000 $'000
Loans and payables and cash

Supplies and services  4,038 1,750
Other employee entitlements payable within 12 months  1,365 782

Revenue in advance  205 103
Total contractual financial liabilities  5,608  2,635 

Categories of financial instruments       
Loans and receivables and cash are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that are 
not quoted on an active market. These assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE recognises the 
following assets in this category:
 Ì cash and deposits
 Ì receivables (excluding statutory receivables);
 Ì term deposits

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially 
measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial 
instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the 
redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of the interest bearing liability, using the effective 
interest rate method. Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE recognises the following liabilities in this category:
 Ì payables (excluding statutory payables)

Impairment of financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE assesses whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets, except those measured at 
fair value through profit or loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.

The allowance is the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) 
financial assets, which are not financial instruments, professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality using 
estimates, averages and other computational methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. 

Managing risk and uncertainties
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7.1 Financial instruments (continued)
7.1.1 Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instrument by category

Net holding 
gain/(loss)

Total interest 
income/

(expense)

Fee income 
(expense)

Impairment 
loss Total

Net holding gain/(loss) on financial 
instrument by category

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets – loans and 
receivables  (183)  (558)  -    -    -    -    -    -    (183)  (558)

Total contractual financial 
liabilities (183) (558)  -    -    -    -    -    -   (183) (558)

The net holding gains or losses disclosed are determined as follows:

 Ì for cash and cash equivalents, loans or receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, the net gain or loss 
is calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the asset, the interest income, plus or minus foreign 
exchange gains or losses arising from revaluation of the financial assets, and minus any impairment recognised in 
the net result.

The net holding (loss) for loans and receivables is calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the asset  
which represents the increase/decrease in provision for doubtful debts.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is exposed to a variety of financial risks, market risk (including foreign currency risk, 
interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s financial risk management program seeks to manage these risks and the associated 
volatility of its financial performance.

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of Goulburn Ovens Institute 
of TAFE. Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is 
exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks 
and ageing analysis for credit risk.

Risk management is carried out by Financial Services under policies approved by the Board. The Board provides 
written principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, 
interest rate risk and credit risk. There has been no significant change in Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s exposure, 
or its objectives, policies and processes for managing Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s financial risks or the methods 
used to measure the risk from the previous reporting period.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE, which comprise cash 
and deposits and non-statutory receivables. Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s exposure to credit risk arises from 
the potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to Goulburn Ovens 
Institute of TAFE.

Managing risk and uncertainties
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7.1 Financial instruments (continued)
Credit risk is measure at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis by the Institute’s Board.  The Board monitors 
credit risk by actively assessing the rating quality and liquidty of counterparties:
 Ì all potential customers are rated for credit worthiness taking into account their size, market position and financial 

standing; 
 Ì customers that do not meet Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s strict policies may only purchase in cash or using 

recognised credit cards.
 Ì only banks with an ‘A’ rating are utilised for operational transactions; and
 Ì all investments are placed with Treasury Corporation of Victoria (TVC)

The Institute does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables under 
financial instruments entered into by the Institute.

The trade receivables balance at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 do not include any counterparties with 
external credit ratings. Customers are assessed for credit worthiness using the criteria detailed above. 

The Institute minimises credit risk in relation to student loans receivable by direct debit agreements entered into with 
students who are unable to pay fees at the time of enrolment. 

In addition, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly 
obtains contractual financial assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash assets, which are mainly cash at bank. 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s policy is to only deal with banks with high credit ratings.

Provision of impairement for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that the 
Institute will not be able to collect a receivable. Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default 
payments, debts which are more than 90 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings.

The carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for 
losses, represents Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the 
value of any collateral obtained.

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired. Currently the Institute does 
not hold any collateral as security nor credit enhancements relating to any of its financial assets.

Managing risk and uncertainties
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7.1 Financial instruments (continued)
There has been no signifcant change in the Institute’s exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing 
credit risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Financial 
Institutions  
(AA3 rating)

Government 
agencies  

(AAA rating)

Other 
counterparty Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $'000
2017

Cash and deposits 19,888 0 4 19,892
Receivables 1 0 0  10,622 10,622
Investments and other financial assets 0 12,910 0 12,910

Total contractual financial assets 19,888 12,910 10,626 43,424
2016

Cash and deposits 1,270 0 5 1,275
Receivables 1 - 0 9,321 9,321
Investments and other financial assets 0 28,599 0 28,599

Total contractual financial assets 1,270 28,599 9,326 39,195

Notes:
1. The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing to/from Victorian Government, 

GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).       
 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE would be unable to meet its financial obligations as and 
when they fall due.
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE operates under a payments policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days and 
in the event of a dispute, making payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE ’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as 
disclosed on the face of the balance sheet.
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE manages liquidity risk by:
 Ì maintaining an adequate short term reserves and banking facilities that can be drawn at short notice to meet its 

short-term obligations;
 Ì holding investments and other contractual financial assets that are readily tradeable in the financial market; and 
 Ì careful maturity planning of its financial obligations based on forecasts of future cash flows.

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and 
current assessment of risk.

Market risk
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE in its daily operations is exposed to a number of market risks. Market risks relate to 
the risk that market rates and prices will change and that this will have an adverse effect on the operating result and /
or net worth of Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE. These market risks primarily relate to foreign currency and interest 
rate risk.

Managing risk and uncertainties
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7.1 Financial instruments (continued)
The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE’s exposures to market risk are primarily through  foreign currency risk, equity 
price risk and interest rate risk. Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed 
below.

The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is exposed to foreign currency risk mainly through the delivery of services in 
currencies other than the Australian dollar, and payables relating to purchases of supplies and consumables from 
overseas. This is because of a limited amount of transactions denominated in foreign currencies and a relatively short 
timeframe between commitment and settlement. The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not have any foreign 
currency bank accounts denominated in foreign currency at 31 December 2017.

Foreign currency risk
The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE is exposed to foreign currency risk mainly through the delivery of services in 
currencies other than Australian Dollar and payables relating to purchases of supplies and consumables from overseas. 
There is a limited amount of transactions denominated in foreign currencies and a relatively short timeframe between 
the commitment and settlement. There is no significant change in the Institute’s exposure, or its objectives, policies 
and processes for managing foreign currency risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting 
period.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the potential for a change in interest rates to change the expected net interest earnings in 
the current reporting period and in future years, or cause a fluctuation in the fair value of the financial instruments.

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments 
that are measured at fair value, and therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate 
risk through its cash and deposits that are at floating rates.

The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE manages cash flow interest rate risk through a mixture of short term and longer 
term investments, and undertaking fixed rate or non-interest bearing financial instruments with relatively even 
maturity profiles, with only insignificant amounts of financial instruments at floating rate. Management monitors 
movement in interest rate on a monthly basis.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to interest rates and the Goulburn 
Ovens Institute of TAFE’s sensitivity to interest rate risk are set out below.

Managing risk and uncertainties
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7.1 Financial instruments (continued)

Interest rate exposure of 
financial instruments

Weighted 
average 

effective rate

Total carrying 
amount per 

balance sheet
Floating interest 

rate
Fixed interest 

rate
Non-interest 

bearing

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Financial assets % % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash and deposits 1.650  1.900 19,892  1,275 19,888  1,270  -    -    4  5 

Receivables
Trade receivables  6,940  5,403  -    -    -    -    6,940 5,403 
Revenue receivable  3,681  3,917  -    -    -    -    3,681 3,917 
Other receivables  1  1  -    -    -    -    1  1 
Term deposits 1.670  2.020 12,910 28,599  -    -   12,910 28,599  -    -   

Total financial assets 43,424 39,195 19,888  1,270 12,910 28,599 10,626 9,326 
Financial Liabilities
Supplies and services  4,038  1,750  -    -    -    -    4,038 1,750 
Other payables  1,365  782  -    -    -    -    1,365  782 
Revenue in advance  205  103  -    -    -    -    205  103 

Total financial liabilities  5,608  2,635  -    -    -    -    5,608 2,635 

Interest rate risk sensitivity
A reasonably possible change of 50 basis points (2016: 50 basis points) in interest rates at the reporting date would 
have increased (decreased) equity and results by the amount shown below. This analysis assumes that all other 
variables remain constant. 

-50 basis points +50 basis points

Carrying amount Result Equity Result Equity

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Contractual financial assets

Cash and deposits 19,892 1,275  (99)  (6)  (99)  (6)  99  6  99  6 

Receivables 10,622 9,321 - - - - - - - -

Investments 12,910 28,599  (65) (143)  (65)  (143)  65  143  65  143 

Total impact  43,424  39,195  (164) (149)  (164)  (149)  164  149  164  149 

Contractual financial liabilities

Payables  5,608  2,635 -  -   -  -   -  -   -  -   

Total impact  49,032  41,830  (164) (149)  (164)  (149)  164  149  164  149 

Managing risk and uncertainties
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7.2 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed and, if 
quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.
Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively.

Contingent assets 
Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity. 
These are classified as either quantifiable, where the potential economic benefit is known, or non-quantifiable.

Quantifiable contingent assets 
2017 2016

$’000 $'000
Compensation - Purchase of water shares  368  368 

 368  368 

Notes
Goulburn Murray Water (GMW) first approached the Institute in June 2013 regarding the property at William Orr 
Campus, 260 Wanganui Road, Shepparton and relinquishing the water rights attached to that property as part of the 
GMW Connections Project. The Institute decided to go to market in October 2015 and received an offer of $368,330. 
However, the offer is subject to the Minister’s approval as it is in the Minister’s name. At this point in time this has not 
progressed to approval by the Minister.

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are:
 Ì possible obligations that arise from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-

occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity; or
 Ì present obligations that arise from past events but are not recognised because:

 Ì it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligations; or

 Ì the amount of the obligations cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are also classified as either quantifiable or non-quantifiable. 

There are no quantifiable contingent liabilities.           
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE currently has a court case with a current teaching staff member relating to notice 
of change of working hours, if this case is successful this will have wider implications on the casual and permanent 
teaching workforce.
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7.3 Fair value determination
Significant judgement: Fair value measurements of assets and liabilities

Fair value determination requires judgement and the use of assumptions. This section discloses the most significant 
assumptions used in determining fair values. Changes to assumptions could have a material impact on the results and 
financial position of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE.

This section sets out information on how the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE determined fair values for financial 
reporting purposes. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The following assets and liabilities are carried at fair value:

 Ì land, buildings, plant and equipment and vehicles.
 Ì investment properties.

In addition, the fair values of other assets and liabilities that are carried at amortised cost, also need to be determined 
for disclosure purposes.
The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE determines the policies and procedures for determining fair values for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities as required.

Fair value estimation
In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. To increase consistency and comparability in the financial 
statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, also known as the fair value hierarchy. The levels are as 
follows:

 Ì Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
 Ì Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

directly or indirectly observable; and
 Ì Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

unobservable.
The Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by 
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) 
at the end of each reporting period. 

Managing risk and uncertainties
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7.3 Fair value determination (continued)
(a) Fair value determination of non-financial assets

Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE holds property, plant and equipments for which fair values are determined.  Below 
are the relevant fair value information relating to those assets.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2017
Carrying 
amount 

at 31 
December

Quoted 
prices

Observable 
price inputs

Unobservable  
inputs

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Specialised land  14,645 - - 14,645
Total land at fair value  14,645  -    -    14,645 

Specialised buildings  71,164 - - 71,164
Total buildings at fair value  71,164  -    -    71,164 

Plant and equipment  1,930 - - 1,930
Vehicles  359 - -  359 
Total other assets at fair value  2,289  -    -    2,289 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2016

Carrying 
amount 

at 31 
December

Quoted 
prices

Observable 
price inputs

Unobservable  
inputs

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Specialised land  12,803 - - 12,803
Total land at fair value  12,803  -    -    12,803 

Specialised buildings  73,871 - - 73,871
Total buildings at fair value  73,871  -    -    73,871 

Plant and equipment  2,132 - - 2,132
Vehicles  429 - -  429 
Total other assets at fair value  2,561  -    -    2,561 
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7.3 Fair value determination (continued)    

Valuations of property, plant and equipment
Fair value assessments have been performed at 31 December 2017 for all classes of assets. A full revaluation of the 
fair value of land and buildings was conducted in 2017 by the Valuer General with materially different values to the 
carrying value. The fair value of all other asset classes was similar to the carrying value so no change was required. The 
next scheduled full revaluation for the Institute will be conducted in 2022.

Specialised land and specialised buildings 
The market approach is also used for specialised land, although is adjusted for the community service obligation (CSO) 
to reflect the specialised nature of the land being valued.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset 
to the extent that is also equally applicable to market participants. This approach is in light of the highest and best 
use consideration required for fair value measurement, and takes into account the use of the asset that is physically 
possible, legally permissible, and financially feasible. As adjustments of CSO are considered as significant unobservable 
inputs, specialised land would be classified as Level 3 assets.

For the Institute majority of specialised buildings, the depreciated replacement cost method is used, adjusting for the 
associated depreciations. As depreciation adjustments are considered as significant, unobservable inputs in nature, 
specialised buildings are classified as Level 3 fair value measurements.

An independent valuation of the Institute’s specialised land and specialised buildings was performed by the Valuer 
General Victoria. The valuation was performed using the market approach adjusted for CSO. The effective date of the 
valuation is 31 December 2017.
Motor vehicles are valued using the depreciated replacement cost method. Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE acquires 
new vehicles and at times disposes of them before the end of their economic life. The process of acquisition, use and 
disposal in the market is managed by experienced fleet managers in the Institute who set relevant depreciation rates 
during use to reflect the utilisation of the vehicles.

Plant and equipment is held at fair value. When plant and equipment is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold 
other than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined  using the depreciated replacement cost method.

Managing risk and uncertainties
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7.3 Fair value determination (continued)
There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 31 December 2017.
For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.

Reconciliation of level 3 fair value movements

Specialised land Specialised building Plant and equipment Motor vehicles

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening balance  12,803  12,803  73,871  68,094  2,132  2,313  429  668 

Purchases (sales)  -  -  -  (23)  739  519  171  220 

Transfers in (out) of Level 3  -  -  -    446  -    141  -  - 

Depreciation  -  -  (3,202)  (3,001)  (941)  (841)  (241)  (459)

Revaluation  1,842 -  494  8,355  -  -  -  - 

Closing Balance  14,645  12,803  71,163  73,871  1,930  2,132  359  429 

Managing risk and uncertainties
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7.3 Fair value determination (continued)
2017 and 2016 Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs 

Specialised land Market approach Community Service Obligation (CSO) adjustment(1)

Specialised buildings Depreciated replacement cost
Direct cost per square metre
Useful life of specialised buildings

Plant and equipment Depreciated replacement cost
Cost per unit
Useful life plant and equipment

Motor vehicles Depreciated replacement cost
Cost per unit
Useful life of vehicles

Notes:      
1. CSO adjustments ranging from 0 per cent to 20 per cent were applied to reduce the market approach value for the 

Institute’s specialised land, with the weighted average 7 per cent reduction applied. 
The significant unobservable inputs have changed from 2016.

(c) Fair value determination of investment properties
Carrying 
amount 

at 31 
December

Fair value measurement at end of 
reporting period using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2017 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Shepparton  935  -    935  -   
Seymour  1,140  -    1,140  -   
Investment properties  2,075  -    2,075  -   

Carrying 
amount at 31 

December

Fair value measurement at end of 
reporting period using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
2016 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Shepparton  885  -    885  -   
Seymour  1,175  -    1,175  -   
Investment properties  2,060  -    2,060  -   

There were no transfers between Levels during the year.
There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 31 December 2017. 
The fair value of the Institute’s investment properties at 31 December 2017 have been arrived at on the basis of 
an independent valuation carried out by independent valuers, Opteon Pty. Ltd. The valuation was determined by 
reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties with no significant unobservable adjustments, 
in the same location and condition and subject to similar lease and other contracts. 
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8.1 Responsible persons
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 
1994, the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons and executive officers for the reporting period.

The persons who held the positions of Ministers and Accountable Officers in Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE are as 
follows (note: dates reflect the 2017 year only, not the full term appointment):

Position Name Dates of appointment

Minister for Training and Skills The Hon. Gayle Tierney, MP 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 

Director and Chief Executive Officer 
(Accountable Officer) Mr Paul Culpan 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 

Board  Member (Chairperson) Mr Michael Tehan 1 January 2017 to 30 June 2017 

Board  Member (Chairperson) Ms Joanne Dwyer 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017

Board  Member Ms Joanne Dwyer 1 January 2017 to 30 June 2017 

Board  Member Mr Rodney Schubert 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 

Board  Member Dr Christine Cunningham 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 

Board  Member Mr Mark O'Sullivan 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 

Board  Member Ms Angela Verde 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 

Board  Member Ms Christine Riches 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 

Board  Member Ms Jenny-Lou Jackson 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017 

Board  Member Mr Antony Walton 15 December 2017 to 31 December 2017

Board Member Ms Fiona Lloyd 15 December 2017 to 31 December 2017

Remuneration 
Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officers in connection with the management of the Institute 
during the reporting period was in the range: $580,000 – $590,000 ($620,000 – $630,000 in 2016).

Governance
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Governance
For the year ended 31 December 2017

8.1 Responsible persons (continued)

Income range
2017 2016

No. No.
Less than $10,000  3  2 
$10,001 - $20,000  -    4 
$20,001 - $30,000  -    3 
$30,001 - $40,000  5  1 
$40,001 - $50,000  -    2 
$50,001 - $60,000  1  -   
$70,001 - $80,000  1  1 
$250,001 - $260,000  1  -   
$270,001 - $280,000  -    1 
Total numbers  11  14 
Total remuneration ($'000)  580  625 

Remuneration of the Minister for Higher Education and Skills is disclosed in the financial report of the Department of 
Premier and Cabinet.  Other relevant interests are declared in the Register of Members interests which is completed by 
each member of the Parliament.

8.2 Remuneration of executives
The number of executive officers, other than ministers and accountable officers, and their total remuneration during 
the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalents provides a measure of full 
time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.

Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on 
behalf of the entity, in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories.

Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid 
or payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or 
services.

Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when 
employment has ceased.

Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long service benefits or deferred compensation.  
Termination benefits include termination of employment payments, such as severance packages. 

Remuneration of executive officers Total remuneration
2017 2016(i)

Short-term employee benefits  905  -   
Post-employment benefits  88  -   
Other long-term benefits  19  -   
Termination benefits  303  -   
Total remuneration  1,315  -   

Total number of executives 10  -   
Total annualised employee equivalents (ii) 7  -   

(i) Note that for the first year of implementation (2016-17), no comparatives will be required.
(ii) Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the 52 

weeks for a reporting period.
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8.3 Related parties
Related parties of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE include all key management personnel and their close family 
members and personal business interests.
Key management personnel of the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE includes the Hon Gayle Tierney MP, Minister 
for Training and Skills, Chief Executive Officer, Board of Directors and members of the Senior Executive Team, which 
includes:

• Chief Executive Officer, Mr Paul Culpan;

• Board Member (Chairperson), Mr Michael Tehan;

• Board Member/Board Member (Chairperson), Ms Joanne Dwyer;

• Board Member, Mr Rodney Schubert;

• Board Member, Dr Christine Cunningham;

• Board Member, Mr Mark O'Sullivan;

• Board Member, Ms Angela Verde;

• Board Member, Ms Christine Riches;

• Board Member, Ms Jenny-Lou Jackson;

• Board Member, Mr Antony Walton;

• Board Member, Ms Fiona Lloyd;

• Chief Financial Officer/Board Secretary, Mr Thomas Pamminger;

• Chief Financial Officer/Board Secretary, Mr Robert Faulkner;

• Chief Information Officer, Mr Ian Bell;

• General Manager Education, Ms Margaret Fixter;

• Executive Manager, Mr Peter Carkeek;

• Executive Manager, Ms Simone Lambert;

• Executive Manager, Ms Louise Pearce;

• Executive Manager, Mr Andrew Powell;

• Executive Manager, Mr Kenneth McLennan; and

• Executive Manager, Ms Sandra Parker;

Governance
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The compensation details listed below excludes the salaries and benefits that the Minister receives.

Compensation of key management personnel Total remuneration
2017 2016(i)

Short-term employee benefits  1,334  -   
Post-employment benefits  146  -   
Other long-term benefits  33  -   
Termination benefits  303  -   

Total remuneration (ii)  1,816  -   

(i) Note that for the first year of implementation (2016-17), no comparatives will be required.
(ii) Note that key management personnel are also reported in the disclosure of remuneration of executive 

officers (Note 8.2)
Transactions and balances with key management personnel and other related parties

Transaction values 
for year ended 31 

December
Balances outstanding 

as at 31 December

Transactions
2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Sale of goods and services

Training, venue hire and sponsorship  1  2  -    -   

Purchase of goods and services

Operational services  100  63  -    -   

Sponsorship and media advertising  35  27  -    -   

Internet services  -    22  -    -   

Contribution to operational activities  -    104  -    -   

 136  218  -    -   

During the year, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE provided sponsorship to North East Tracks LLEN, an organisation of 
which Louise Pearce, Executive Manager is the Chairperson. The transaction involved payment for sponsorship for the 
Dookie Careers Day Out $949.30 and provision of Food and Fibre Booklets $1200.00.

In 2016, the Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE entered into a contract with C3X Pty Limited, a company owned by 
the son of Michael Tehan, the Board Chairperson for Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE, to provide expert advice for 
the development of non-accredited Drones training for the Back to Work Dairy Project. The total contract value was 
$162,408.53, with $62,790.64 paid in the 2016 financial year and the balance $99,617.89 paid in the 2017 financial 
year. The contract terms are based on market rates for these type of contracts and amounts are payable on a monthly 
basis for the duration of the contract.

During the year, Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE provided sponsorship to Goulburn Valley Football League, an 
organisation of which Michael Tehan, Board Chairperson is an office holder. The transaction involved payment for 
sponsorship which was invoiced throughout the year by Goulburn Valley Football League totalling $34,100.00.

All third party related transaction conflicts of interest were managed appropriately.

Other related transactions requiring disclosure under the Directions of the Minister for Finance have been considered 
and there are no matters to report.

Governance
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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8.4 Auditors remuneration

Remuneration of the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office for:
2017 2016
$’000 $'000

Audit of the financial statements  20  25 
Other non-audit services  98  34 
Total remuneration of auditors  118  59 

The Victorian Auditor-General’s office is not allowed to provide non-audit services. 

Governance
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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9.1 Other economic flows included in net result     

Other gains/(losses) from other economic flows
2017 2016

$’000 $'000
Net gain/(loss) arising from revaluation of long service leave liability  293  (505)
Total other gains/(losses) from other economic flows  293  (505)

Net gain/(loss) from revaluation of long service leave liability are changes arising due to changes in bond rates.

Other economic flows’ are changes arising from market remeasurements. They include:
 Ì remeasurement arising from employee benefits disclosed above

This classification is consistent with the whole of government reporting format and is allowed under AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements.

9.2 Other equity reserves 

Physical asset revaluation surplus 1 2017 2016
$’000 $'000

Balance at 1 January  54,653  46,298 
Revaluation increment on non-current asset  2,336  8,355 
Balance at 31 December  56,989  54,653 

Note:
1. The physical asset revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of land and buildings.

9.3 Events after reporting date
No matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to period end that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect, the operations of Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of 
Goulburn Ovens Institute of TAFE in subsequent financial years.

Other disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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9.4 Application of standards issued but not yet effective
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not effective for the 31 December 
2017 reporting period.
As at 31 December 2017 the following standards and interpretations (applicable to the Institute) had been issued but 
were not effective for financial year ending 31 December 2017. The Institute has not, and does not intend to, adopt 
these standards early.

Standard/ 
Interpretation Summary

Applicable for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on

Impact on public sector entity 
financial statements

AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments

The key changes include the simplified 
requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial assets, a new 
hedging accounting model and a revised 
impairment loss model to recognise 
impairment losses earlier, as opposed 
to the current approach that recognises 
impairment only when incurred.

1-Jan-18 

The assessment has identified that the 
amendments are likely to result in earlier 
recognition of impairment losses and at 
more regular intervals. 
While there will be no significant impact 
arising from AASB 9, there will be a 
change to the way financial instruments 
are disclosed. 

AASB 2014-7 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from AASB 9

Amends various AASs to incorporate the 
consequential amendments arising from 
the issuance of AASB 9. 

1-Jan-18 
The assessment has indicated that there 
will be no significant impact for the 
public sector. 

AASB 15 Revenue 
from Contracts 
with Customers

Amends various AASs to incorporate the 
consequential amendments arising from 
the issuance of AASB 9. 

1-Jan-18 

The changes in revenue recognition 
requirements in AASB 15 may result 
in changes to the timing and amount 
of revenue recorded in the financial 
statements. The Standard will also 
require additional disclosures on service 
revenue and contract modifications.

AASB 2014-5 
Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from AASB 15

Amends the measurement of trade 
receivables and the recognition of 
dividends. 
Trade receivables, that do not have a 
significant financing component, are to 
be measured at their transaction price, 
at initial recognition.  
Dividends are recognised in the profit 
and loss only when:
• the entity’s right to receive payment 

of the dividend is established; 
• it is probable that the economic 

benefits associated with the dividend 
will flow to the entity; and 

• the amount can be measured reliably.

1 Jan 2017, except 
amendments to AASB 9 
(Dec 2009) and AASB 9 
(Dec 2010) apply from 1 
Jan 2018 

The assessment has indicated that there 
will be no significant impact for the 
public sector.

Other disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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 9.4 Application of standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

Standard/ 
Interpretation Summary

Applicable 
for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on

Impact on public sector 
entity financial statements

AASB 2016-3 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Clarifications to 
AASB 15 

This Standard amends AASB 15 to clarify the 
requirements on identifying performance 
obligations, principal versus agent 
considerations and the timing of recognising 
revenue from granting a licence. The 
amendments require: 
• A promise to transfer to a customer a good or 

service that is ‘distinct’ to be recognised as a 
separate performance obligation; 

• For items purchased online, the entity is a 
principal if it obtains control of the good or 
service prior to transferring to the customer; 
and 

• For licences identified as being distinct from 
other goods or services in a contract, entities 
need to determine whether the licence 
transfers to the customer over time (right to 
use) or at a point in time (right to access).

1-Jan-18 

The assessment has indicated 
that there will be no significant 
impact for the public sector, 
other than the impact identified 
for AASB 15 above. 

AASB 2016-7 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Deferral of AASB 
15 for Not-for-Profit Entities

This Standard defers the mandatory effective 
date of AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities from 1 
January 2018 to 1 January 2019.

1-Jan-19

This amending standard will 
defer the application period 
of AASB 15 for not-for-profit 
entities to the 2019-20 
reporting period.

AASB 2016-8 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Australian 
Implementation Guidance 
for Not-for-Profit Entities

This Standard amends AASB 9 and AASB 15 to 
include requirements to assist not-for-profit 
entities in applying the respective standards 
to particular transactions and events. The 
amendments:  
• require non-contractual receivables arising 
from statutory requirements (i.e. taxes, 
rates and fines) to be initially measured and 
recognised in accordance with AASB 9 as if those 
receivables are financial instruments; and  
• clarifies circumstances when a contract with a 
customer is within the scope of AASB 15. 

1-Jan-18 

The assessment has indicated 
that there will be no significant 
impact for the public sector, 
other than the impacts 
identified for AASB 9 and AASB 
15 above.

AASB 16 Leases
The key changes introduced by AASB 16 include 
the recognition of most operating leases (which 
are current not recognised) on balance sheet.

1-Jan-19

The assessment has indicated 
that as most operating leases 
will come on balance sheet, 
recognition of the right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities will 
cause net debt to increase.  
Rather than expensing the 
lease payments, depreciation 
of right-of-use assets and 
interest on lease liabilities will 
be recognised in the income 
statement with marginal impact 
on the operating surplus. 
No change for lessors. 

Other disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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9.4 Application of standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

Standard/ 
Interpretation Summary

Applicable 
for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on

Impact on public sector 
entity financial statements

AASB 1058 Income of Not-
for-Profit Entities

This standard replaces AASB 1004 
Contributions and establishes revenue 
recognition principles for transactions 
where the consideration to acquire an 
asset is significantly less than fair value to 
enable to not-for-profit entity to further 
its objectives. 

1-Jan-19

The assessment has indicated 
that revenue from capital 
grants that are provided under 
an enforceable agreement 
that have sufficiently specific 
obligations, will now be 
deferred and recognised as 
performance obligations are 
satisfied. As a result, the timing 
recognition of revenue will 
change.

In addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending standards that 
are not effective for the 2017 reporting period (as listed below). In general, these amending standards include editorial 
and references changes that are expected to have insignificant impacts on public sector reporting.

 Ì  AASB 2016-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 
Unrealised Losses [AASB 112] 

 Ì AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107
 Ì AASB 2016-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification and Measurements of Share-based 

Payment Transactions
 Ì AASB 2016-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Applying AASB 9 Financial Instruments with AASB 

4 Insurance Contracts
 Ì AASB 2017-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transfers of Investment Property, Annual 

Improvements 2014-16 Cycle and Other Amendments 
 Ì AASB 2017-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Further Annual Improvements 2014-16 Cycle

Other disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Disclosure Index

Item 
no. Source Summary of reporting requirement Page no.

REPORT OF OPERATIONS

Charter and purpose

1 FRD 22H Manner of establishment and the relevant Minister 5

2 FRD 22H
Purpose, functions, powers and duties linked to a summary of activities, 
programs and achievements 5

3 FRD 22H Nature and range of services provided including communities served 5–12

Management and structure

4 FRD 22H Organisational structure and chart, including responsibilities 22-23

5 FRD 22H Names of Board members 20-22

Financial and other information

6 FRD 03A Accounting for Dividends N/A

7 FRD 07B Early adoption of authoritative accounting pronouncements 86-88

8 FRD 10A Disclosure Index 89-92

9 FRD 17B Long Service leave and annual leave for employees 48-50, 85

10 FRD 20A Accounting for State motor vehicle lease arrangements prior to 1 Feb 2004 N/A

11 FRD 22H Operational and budgetary objectives, performance against objectives and 
achievements 13, 18-19

12 FRD 22H Occupational health and safety statement including performance indicators, 
performance against those indicators. Reporting must be on the items listed 
at (a) to (e) in the FRD 

26

13 FRD 22H Workforce data for current and previous reporting period including a 
statement on employment and conduct principles and that employees have 
been correctly classified in the workforce data collections (see Attachment B 
for details of the Department’s required reporting approach to all workforce 
data contained in Annual Reports from 2016 onwards). 

24-25

14 FRD 22H Summary of the financial results for the year including previous 4 year 
comparisons 13

15 FRD 22H Summary of significant changes in financial position 13

16 FRD 22H Key initiatives and projects, including significant changes in key initiatives 
and projects from previous years and expectations for the future 7-12, 14

17 FRD 22H Post-balance sheet date events likely to significantly affect subsequent 
reporting periods 85

18 FRD 22H Summary of application and operation of the Freedom of Information Act 
1982 30

19 FRD 22H Discussion and analysis of operating results and financial results 13, 18-19

20 FRD 22H Significant factors affecting performance 18-19
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Item 
no. Source Summary of reporting requirement Page no.

21 FRD 22H Where a TAFE has a workforce inclusion policy, a measurable target and 
report on the progress towards the target should be included N/A

22 FRD 22H Schedule of any government advertising campaign in excess of $100,000 or 
greater (exclusive of GST) include list from 5.16(a) – (d)  in the FRD 28

23 FRD 22H Statement of compliance with building and maintenance provisions of the 
Building Act 1993 31

24 FRD 22H Statement, where applicable, on the implementation and compliance with 
the National Competition Policy 30

25 FRD 22H Summary of application and operation of the Protected Disclosure Act 2012 30

26 FRD 22H and FRD 
24C 

Summary of Environmental Performance including a report on office based 
environmental impacts 32-33

27 FRD 22H Consultants: 
Report of Operations must include a statement disclosing each of the 
following 
1. Total number of consultancies of $10,000 or more (excluding GST) 
2. Location (eg website) of where details of these consultancies over 

$10,000 have been made publicly available 
3. Total number of consultancies individually valued at less than $10,000 

and the total expenditure for the reporting period 
AND for each consultancy more than $10,000, a schedule is to be published 
on the TAFE institute website listing: 
• Consultant engaged 
• Brief summary of project 
• Total project fees approved (excluding GST) 
• Expenditure for reporting period (excluding GST) 
• Any future expenditure committed to the consultant for the project 

29

28 FRD 22H Statement, to the extent applicable, on the application and operation of the 
Carers Recognition Act 2012 (Carers Act), and the actions that were taken 
during the year to comply with the Carers Act

30-31

29 FRD 22H List of other information available on request from the Accountable Officer, 
and which must be retained by the Accountable Officer (refer to list at 5.19 
(a) - (l) in the FRD) 

31

30 FRD 22H An entity shall disclose the following in the report of operations: 
a) Total entity ICT Business As Usual (BAU) expenditure for the full 12 
month reporting period; and 
b) Total entity ICT Non-Business As Usual expenditure for the full 12 
month reporting period; and provide a breakdown for: 

(i) Operational expenditure (OPEX); and 
(ii) Capital expenditure (CAPEX). 

29

31 FRD 25C Victorian Industry Participation Policy Disclosures 30

32 FRD 26B Accounting for VicFleet motor vehicle lease arrangements on or after 1 
February 2004 N/A

33 FRD 29B Workforce Data Disclosures on the public service employee workforce. 24-25

34 SD 3.7.1 The Responsible Body must ensure that the Agency applies the Victorian 
Government Risk Management Framework. 34

35 FRD 22H An entity’s report of operations shall contain general and financial 
information, including other relevant information, outlining and explaining 
an entity’s operations and activities for the reporting period. 5-14
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Item 
no. Source Summary of reporting requirement Page no.

36 SD 5.2.1(a) The Accountable Officer must implement and maintain a process to ensure 
the Agency’s Annual Report is prepared in accordance with the FMA, these 
Directions, the Instructions, applicable Australian Accounting Standards and 
Financial Reporting Directions. 

4, 34, 39

37 SD 5.2.3 The report of operations must be signed and dated by the Responsible Body 
or a member of the Responsible Body. 4

38 CG 10 (clause 27) Register of Major Commercial Activities and Report 28

39 CG 12 (clause 33) TAFE Institute Controlled Entities 28

FINANCIAL REPORT

Financial statements required under part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994

40 SD 5.2.2(b) • The declaration required under Direction 5.2.2(b) must state that in the 
joint opinion of the signing persons:

• the financial statements present fairly the financial transactions during 
the reporting period and the financial position at the end of that 
period; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
applicable requirements in the FMA, the Directions, the Financial 
Reporting Directions and Australian Accounting Standards.

39

Other requirements under standing direction 4.2 / Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA)

41 SD 5.2.2(a) and 
FMA s 49 

An Agency’s financial statements must include a signed and dated 
declaration by: 
• the Accountable Officer; 
• subject to Direction 5.2.2(c), the CFO; and 
• for Agencies with a statutory board or equivalent governing body 

established by or under statute, a member of the Responsible Body. 

39

42 FRD 30D Rounding of amounts 43

43 SD 3.2.1.1(c) The Responsible Body must establish an Audit Committee to: 
• review annual financial statements and make a recommendation to the 

Responsible Body as to whether to authorise the statements before 
they are released to Parliament by the Responsible Minister 

34

Other requirements as per financial reporting directions in notes to the financial statements

44 FRD 11A Disclosure of ex-gratia payments N/A

45 FRD 21C Disclosures of Responsible Persons, Executive Officer and Other Personnel 
(Contractors with significant management responsibilities) in the Financial 
Report 

80-83

46 FRD 102A Inventories 41, 52,
61, 66

47 FRD 103F Non-financial physical assets 40-41, 
57-58,
75, 79

48 FRD 105B Borrowing costs N/A

49 FRD 106A Impairment of assets 62, 68

50 FRD 107B Investment properties 57-58,
75, 79

51 FRD 109A Intangible assets 40-41, 
58-60

52 FRD 110A Cash flow statements 42, 66
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Item no. Source Summary of reporting requirement Page no.

53 FRD 112D Defined benefit superannuation obligations 51

54 FRD 113A Investment in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates N/A

55 FRD 114B Financial instruments – general government entities and public non-financial 
corporations 

40, 62, 64, 
66-73

56 FRD 119A Transfers through contributed capital 41, 67

57 FRD 120K Accounting and reporting pronouncements applicable to the reporting 
period 44

Compliance with other legislation, subordinate instruments and policies 

58 Legislation The TAFE institute Annual Report must contain a statement that it complies 
with all relevant legislation, and subordinate instruments, (and which should 
be listed in the Report) including, but not limited to, the following: 
• Education and Training Reform Act 2006 (ETRA) 
• TAFE institute constitution 
• Directions of the Minister for Training and Skills (or predecessors) 
• TAFE institute Commercial Guidelines 
• TAFE institute Strategic Planning Guidelines 
• Public Administration Act 2004 
• Financial Management Act 1994 
• Freedom of Information Act 1982 
• Building Act 1983 
• Protected Disclosure Act 2012 
• Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 

4

59 ETRA s3.2.8 Statement about compulsory non-academic fees, subscriptions and charges 
payable in 2017 31

60 Policy Statement that the TAFE institute complies with the Victorian Public Sector 
Travel Principles 31

61 Key Performance 
Indicators

See table on page 6 of the ‘TAFE Institute 2016 Annual Report Guidelines’ for 
required formatting. 
Institutes to report against: 
• KPIs set out in the annual Statement of Corporate Intent; and 
• Employment costs as a proportion of training revenue; 
• Training revenue per teaching FTE; 
• Operating margin percentage; 
• Training Revenue diversity. 

18-19

Overseas operations of Victorian TAFE Institutes

62 PAEC and
VAGO
(June 2003 
Special Review 
item 3.110)

• Financial and other information on initiatives taken or strategies relating 
to the institute’s overseas operations

• Nature of strategic and operational risks for overseas operations
• Strategies established to manage such risks of overseas operations
• Performance measures and targets formulated for overseas operations
• The extent to which expected outcomes for overseas operations have 

been achieved.

14
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